## Historic Preservation Commission



Members: Dr. Stephen Gibson – Chairperson Ms. Suzanne Wright – Vice Chairperson Mr. Tim Hoffman – Secretary Mr. Larry Jackson Mr. Chris Myers Dr. Michael Garrett Lincoln Wilkins. Jr. PhD Councilwoman Laurie Marchini Staff Liaison: Kathy McKenney, Historic Planner/Preservation Coordinator

## AGENDA

Historic Preservation Commission Cumberland City Hall, Council Chambers

DATE: April 14, 2021 TIME: 4:00 PM

Public Notice:

The Cumberland Historic Preservation Commission will meet virtually on April 14th at 4pm. The meeting will now be held on the WebEx platform instead of Zoom. A copy of the meeting agenda has been attached. In addition to accessing the meeting virtually through WebEx, it can also be viewed on the City of Cumberland's website at the following link: <u>http://www.ci.cumberland.md.us/633/Historic-Preservation-Commission-Live-Me</u>

#### **APPROVAL OF MINUTES**

<u>1.</u> Review of the meeting minutes from the March 10, 2021 Historic Preservation Commission meeting as prepared by Debbie Helmstetter, Codes Technician.

#### PUBLIC COMMENT

#### **CERTIFICATES OF APPROPRIATENESS – CONSENT AGENDA**

2. 217 North Mechanic Street – RCA21-000004 – relocation of the playground for Humpty Dumpty along with a ramp that will provide access, Jane Belt, applicant

#### **CERTIFICATES OF APPROPRIATENESS**

- <u>3.</u> 222 Washington Street COA21-000006 Request to replace porch components, including, railings, balustrade, and spindles to appear closer to evidence from a 1920s postcard. Porch roof is to be repaired, along with soffit and fascia, Ray Beall, applicant
- 4. 66-72 Pershing Street RCA21-000003 Request for a Change Amendment to COA #870 to install new signage and to review "after the fact" window replacement on the second floor of the

back of the structure (facing Merchants Alley), Christopher Hendershot (CG Enterprises LLC) applicant.

### TAX INCENTIVE APPLICATION REVIEW

5. 66-72 Pershing Street – Part 2 application review for the purposes of obtaining a recommendation for real estate property tax credits as well as a property tax assessment freeze, CB Enterprises, LLC, applicants

#### **OTHER BUSINESS**

- 6. Staff/Chairperson Updates
- 7. Discussions of May 2021 Historic Preservation Virtual Summit . Ongoing Discussion and Planning
- 8. Administrative Approvals Report: 506 Washington Street, replacement of broken window glass, Laura McElhaney, applicant.

#### ADJOURNMENT

If you are unable to attend this meeting, please contact the Department of Community Development at (301) 759-6431 or (301) 759-6442.

Applicants or their appointed representatives must be present at the meeting for a review to take place. Please remember to turn off or silence all electronic devices prior to entering the meeting.

### File Attachments for Item:

**1**. Review of the meeting minutes from the March 10, 2021 Historic Preservation Commission meeting as prepared by Debbie Helmstetter, Codes Technician.

### MINUTES

## HISTORIC PRESERVATION COMMISSION March 10, 2021 Virtual WebEx Meeting

The Cumberland Historic Preservation Commission held its regular meeting on Wednesday, March 10, 2021 at 4:00 p.m., via a virtual Webex meeting. Members present were Chairperson Dr. Stephen Gibson, Ms. Suzanne Wright, Mr. Chris Myers, Mr. Tim Hoffman, Dr. Lincoln Wilkins Jr., Mr. Larry Jackson, Councilwoman Laurie Marchini and Dr. Michael Garrett.

Others in attendance were Kathy McKenney, Historic Planner/Preservation Coordinator, Debbie Helmstetter, Code Technician, Melinda Kelleher, DDC Executive Director, Mr. Mike Fetchero, Allegany Museum and Ambra Hostetler, Kenney Signs, representing Four Axes.

Chairperson, Dr. Stephen Gibson, called the meeting to order. He read the following statement into the record: "The Cumberland Historic Preservation Commission exists pursuant to Section 11 of the City of Cumberland Municipal Zoning Ordinance. Members are appointed by the Mayor and City Council and shall possess a demonstrated special knowledge or professional or academic training in such fields as history, architecture, architectural history, planning, archeology, anthropology, curation, conservation, landscape architecture, historic preservation, urban design or related disciplines. The Commission strives to enhance quality of life by safeguarding the historical and cultural heritage of Cumberland. Preservation is shown to strengthen the local economy, stabilize and improve property values, and foster civic beauty. The Cumberland Historic Preservation Commission operates pursuant to State of Maryland 1977 Open Meetings Act and therefore no pending applications shall be discussed between or amongst Commissioners outside the public hearing to determine the disposition of the application. Please note that the meeting is recorded and that digital signatures are on file from the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and Secretary for utilization in project determinations."

Chairperson Dr. Stephen Gibson introduced the Commission members present and

staff.

## APPROVAL OF MINUTES

1. Minutes for February 10, 2021 were approved as written. Mr. Chris Myers made the motion to approve and Dr. Lincoln Wilkins Jr. seconded the motion; all members were in favor, motion approved.

## PUBLIC COMMENT

There were no public comments.

## CONSENT AGENDA

 COA21-000003 - 157 Baltimore Street - Four Axes - Applicant Ambra Hostetler is requesting a Directional Sign that will be flush mounted and measure 26" x 78"; the glass in the area above the side entrance door where the decal sign is to be placed measures. The Building sign will measure 81 5/8" x 172 7/8" and will be illuminated with goose neck lights. Dr. Michael Garrett made the motion to approve the consent agenda and Dr. Lincoln Wilkins Jr. seconded the motion. Vote was 5-0; Tim Hoffman and Larry Jackson were having technical difficulties and were not heard when the vote was taken.

## CERTIFICATES OF APPROPRIATENESS

1. **COA21-000004** -3 Pershing Street - Applicant Michael Fetchero-Allegany Museum was present to represent the project. The project involved a-review of the after the fact entrance door replacements, soda blasting for the removal of patina on the transoms, and replacement of door hardware; the applicant also requested consideration for future soda blasting of the exterior light posts, window replacement on the back of the building and door opener installation.

Mr. Fetchero said they would like to have a grand reopening on April 17, 2021. They will have a traveling Smithsonian exhibit to appear in the ball room.

Discussion was held concerning the Maryland Historical Trust having an easement on the property and whether they had been notified about the current project, and whether a review had been completed

Ms. Suzanne Wright made the motion to approve COA21-000004 for the Allegany Museum at 3 Pershing Street with the exception of the soda blasting of the light posts and fixtures with staff a process that is less harmful to the original metal of the light post. She noted that the building is contributing and and that the motion is pursuant to Guidelines 1, 6, 23, 29, 37 and Appendix A. Mr. Tim Hoffman seconded the motion for approval.

Additional discussion took place which resulted in Ms. Wright changing her motion to ask the owners to find a reasonable solution, working with Kathy McKenney. Tim Hoffman seconded the amended motion.

During discussion, Lincoln Wilkins requested that a motion could be made to request that the amendment be put on hold until the Maryland Historical Trust reviewed the project as part of the easement review. His motion failed for lack of a second.

A vote was called on Ms. Wright's amended motion with a second. The motion passed with Chris Myers, Michael Garrett, Suzanne Wright voting in favor and Councilwoman Marchini, and Lincoln Wilkins voting against.

Vote was 4-2 motion approved.

### OTHER BUSINESS/STAFF UPDATES

- Ms. McKenney provided areminder that she sent an email out that the she can assist in registering anyone who might want to attend the National Main Street Conference.they are offering it this year in a virtual environment and the training funds have been awarded by the Maryland Historical Trust are applicable for attendance in it. The date it will be held is April 12-14.
- 2. Ms. McKenney thanked Councilwoman Marchini for helping to arrange a meeting with the Mayor on the previous Friday

- 3. Ms. McKenney reported that she had been asked by the Maryland Historical Trust to help with Historic Preservation Advocacy Day with Congressman Trone.
- 4. Ms. McKenney advised that the procedure for requesting new projects or funding requests has been updated and must be approved by the Mayor and City Council before proceeded.
- 5. An audio of tonight's meeting is available upon request.

## ADJOURMENT

Mr. Tim Hoffman made the motion to adjourn and Dr. Lincoln Wilkins Jr. seconded the motion. All members were in favor; motion approved.

Respectfully,

Mr. Tim Hoffman, Secretary April 14, 2021

### File Attachments for Item:

**2.** 217 North Mechanic Street – RCA21-000004 – relocation of the playground for Humpty Dumpty along with a ramp that will provide access, Jane Belt, applicant



#### EXISTING CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REQUEST FOR CHANGE/AMENDMENT

Certificate of Appropriateness #:	COA20-000014
Property Owner:	METHODIST CHURCH CENTRE ST UNITED
Original Approval Date:	12/03/2020
Project Address:	217 N CENTRE ST
Property Number:	14004491
Change/Amendment Review Date:	

The request for a change/amendment to the original review includes the following scope of work:

Relocate the existing playground and create a new play area on the opposite side of the property using new play equipment and play surface. A new ramp will be installed to provide access to the relocated playground area.

The requ

Signed:

NOTE: Please note that the approval listed above only constitutes the approval of the Historic Preservation Commision. You must still ensure that all other permits associated with this project, if required, have been applied for and approved by the Building and Zoning Officer.



## Proposed New Location for Playground and Access Ramp



**New Playground Location** 



**Proposed Playground Layout** 

CARL BELT INCORPORATED CONTRACTING ... ENGINEERING

> Telephone: 301-729-8900 FAX Number: 301-729-0163

11521 MILNOR AVENUE UPPER POTOMAC INDUSTRIAL PARK POST OFFICE BOX 1210 CUMBERLAND, MARYLAND 21501-1210

April 7, 2021

HDLC, LLC 217 N. Centre Street Cumberland, MD 21502 Attn: Jane Belt

> RE: Ramp to Playground Area Humpty Dumpty Learning Center

Dear Jane:

We submit our proposal to construct the concrete ramp from the lower courtyard to the new playground per sketch sheets #1 & #2 dated 4/5/21 for the lump sum price of \$15,000.

Sincerely, CARL BELT, INC

Carl Belt, Jr. President CB/ts

April 7, 2021

HDLC, LLC T/A Humpty Dumpty Learning Center 217 N. Centre Street Cumberland, MD 21502

## Request to Construct Ramp for Access to New Playground Area

Drawings Attached: Dwg #1 of 6 Dated 12/1/20 Site Drawing by SPECS Sketch Sheet 1 of 2 Dated 4/5/21 Ramp Plan View Sketch Sheet 2 of 2 Dated 4/5/21 Ramp Cross Sections A-A '4, B-B'

Proposal Letter:

Carl Belt, Inc. Dated 4/6/21 Lump Sum Price \$15,000









### Request for Change Amendment Application Presentation of Information By Kathy McKenney

RCA#21-000004 COA#20-000014 Business Name: Humpty Dumpty Learning Center Address: 217 North Mechanic Street Project Contact: Jane Belt

**Project Summary** The original Certificate of Appropriateness was approved in December 2020 for the installation of a fence. The applicant, Humpty Dumpty Learning Center, is currently seeking approval to relocate their playground from the existing site on the right-hand side of the former church to a new site. The proposed new site is shown on the attached site plan and would be located within a paved area that was previously used for parking. There would be no disturbance to any existing structure and would not disturb any ground that had not been previously impacted by the pavement.

A site plan of the layout of the playground has also been attached as have details concerning a new ramp that will need to be constructed in order to provide access from the learning center to the playground. The contractor for the applicant has provided plan view sketches in order to show how the ramp system will be constructed by showing the cross sections.

Although there is not a specific guideline pertaining to playgrounds, individual Guidelines are pertinent to the overall undertaking.

The sections of the Preservation Guidelines that pertain to this application are Guideline 6: Safety Codes and Handicap Access (Chapter 5 Page 69); Guideline 65: Landscaping (Hard Scape) (Chapter 5 Page 114)

### File Attachments for Item:

**3**. 222 Washington Street – COA21-000006 – Request to replace porch components, including, railings, balustrade, and spindles to appear closer to evidence from a 1920s postcard. Porch roof is to be repaired, along with soffit and fascia, Ray Beall, applicant



57 N. LIBERTY STREET, CUMBERLAND, MD 2502 • PHONE 301-739-6442 • FAX 301-739-6432 • TDD 800-735-2258 www.cumberlandmd.gov

PERMIT NO. COA21-000006

#### **CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS**

See attached for information which may be requested by the Historic Preservation Commission, as deemed necessary.

LOCATION: 222 WASHINGTON ST OWNER: ALLEGANY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY INC APPLICANT\_\_\_\_\_

RAY BEALL 208 DECATUR ST CUMBERLAND, MD 21502

File Date: 03/29/2021

Work Description: Repair front porch overhang, painting, etc

Description Certificate of Appropriateness Review Fee

Total Cost 30.00

TOTAL AMOUNT: 30.00

Koy

Proposed Work: Repair front porch overhang, painting, etc

Subject: However to revocation by the HPC in the case the afore named construction is not in compliance with the requirements of the City Ordinance related to Historic Preservation, especially Ordinance No. 3208. H.P.C Chairman \_\_\_\_\_\_ H.P.C Secretary \_\_\_\_\_\_ statement: I hereby agree to comply with all regulations which are

applicable hereto, and further agree that the proposed work shall be faithfully carried out as described on this request and as shown on the plans accompanying same, and not otherwise. This application hereby expires six months following the file date if no action is taken to start specific work. Also, this application will expire six months following the file date if the applicant fails to provide additional information as requested by the HPC or its staff in order for the Commission to render a decision.

Signed:

W. Raymond Beall 208 Decatur St Cumberland, MD 21502 301-697-3857

March 29, 2021

Ms. Kathy McKenney Historic Planner/Preservation Coordinator Cumberland Historic Board 57 N Liberty St Cumberland, MD 21502 Kathy.mckenny@cumberlandmd.gov

Re: 222 Washington Street, Cumberland, MD

Ms. McKenney:

I am writing to you as a follow up to our conversation last week concerning the Queen Anne style late Victorian era property we recently acquired at 222 Washington Street. I am going to break this down into two (2) parts for ease of your review.

First, as related to the front porch roof, it is in dire need of repair. Upon inspection, it is obvious that it had been repaired before at some point in time but was patched with subpar materials and painted to match. That repair obviously did not hold up. We are repairing this roof leak correctly by removing the patched aluminum and caulking, replacing the hidden gutter with handcrafted copper hidden gutters and replacing the sagging/rotted soffit and fascia boards beneath.

Second, we are "updating" back to the original as much as possible the exterior facade. As you can see from the attached photos, much of the original architectural charm was destroyed during previous renovations. The photos that have been attached from the early 1900's are from the collection of Albert Feldstein who graciously looked into his archives for us. We are using these photos as reference for the renovation project. The original porch columns remain and there are clear indications of the original height of the porch railings as well as the placement of the brackets attached to their tops along the porch soffit. We are removing the panels that now surround the porch and are replacing them with custom made handrails and balustrade. Matching handrails will also be added to each side of the steps for safety reasons. We are also replacing the brackets/gingerbread that were removed from the tops of the porch columns. The indoor/outdoor carpet will disappear from the steps and porch.

A complete repainting job of all exterior woodwork will be undertaken and we have chosen colors from the Victorian era color palette (Sherwin Williams) that are unlike any others on the block so as not to compete. Retaining a cream color that evidently has always in some shade been on the house with the color of Roycroft Vellum, we will be accenting with Rockwood Dark Green, Rockwood Amber, and Rockwood Red to emphasize the architectural details. The hedges planted in front of the porch during the last renovation are being removed and the area will be planted with perennials and evergreens prevalent during the Victorian era. Some, but not all will be: foxglove, liatris, hollyhock, columbine, bleeding heart, lavender, thyme, tree hydrangea and coneflower. An existing gas line will be replaced and a new gas light will be installed at the front, left corner of the sidewalk with an iron rail cage surrounding it. That area will be planted with fountain grass and clematis.

Steve Wilkinson (220 Washington St) approached me about installing a gate at the top of the steps between our two buildings. It seems that the stairway has become a short cut to Greene Street as well as a bathroom. To that end, we will be installing and iron gate at both the top and bottom of the steps.

If you have any questions or need further information please contact me at the number listed above.

Regards,

W. Raymond Beall



2020 File Photo



Photo Submitted by Applicant



Washington Street, Cumberland, Maryland - Postmarked May 12, 1910

Historic Postcard Provided with the Application (Property is Located Second In From the Right Hand Side of the Image)



Corner of Washington and Lee Streets, Cumberland, Md. - Postmarked July 24, 1924

## Historic Postcard Provided with the Application (Property is Located Second In From the Right Hand Side of the Image)



Photo: This is the Left sidewalk to the rear Apr 01, 2021

## Installation Location of Proposed Gate



Photo: old gate if I can find one for the left side of the building Apr 01, 2021

## Example of Style of Gate That Would Be Installed



Photo: if we cant find an old gate I will make one like this and paint it black Apr 01, 2021

## Alternative Gate Style Proposed by Applicant



Photo: Front post top on porch, you can see the cutoff area Apr 01, 2021



Photo: Front post bottom you can see the cut-off area We want to put the rail back in this location Apr 01, 2021



Photo: We will copy these for 222 Apr 01, 2021 Photo: Mar 29, 2021



# **Existing Exterior Appearance**



Photo: Mar 29, 2021

# **Proposed Paint Colors (Sherwin Williams)**



Digital Rendering with Proposed Paint Colors Added

**National Park Service Preservation Brief #45**
## **Technical Preservation Services**

National Park Service U.S. Department of the Interio



Home > How to Preserve > Preservation Briefs > 45 Wooden Porches

Some of the web versions of the Preservation Briefs differ somewhat from the printed versions. Many illustrations are new and in color; Captions are simplified and some complex charts are omitted. To order hard copies of the Briefs, see Printed Publications B<sup>A</sup>.

PRESERVATION BRIEFS

45

# Preserving Historic Wood Porches

Aleca Sullivan and John Leeke

Evolution of the Porch

The History and Significance of a Porch The Anatomy of a Porch Assessing the Condition Defining the Scope of Work Undertaking the Work Preservation and Maintenance Repair Replacement Replacement Materials Considerations for Contemporary Alterations Safety and Building Codes Summary and References Reading List Download the PDF ₪



Indiana Historical Society, Jay Small Postcard Collection, Standard Cottage, 1886, Bethany Park, Indiana, Collection No. P0391, image © 2003.

Few architectural features evoke more romantic notions or do more to define a building's historic character than the American porch. The size, style, detailing, and location of a porch can tell volumes about the age and use of a building. Each component, from handrail or baluster to column or post, enhances the architectural character of the porch. Alter or remove the porch and a historic building or streetscape can lose its visual integrity and historic authenticity (Figure 1).

Functionally, a porch protects an entrance from the weather. Yet open porches are constantly exposed to sun, snow, rain, and foot traffic, and thus subject to deterioration, perhaps more than other parts of a building. Wood porches are particularly vulnerable.

Deferred maintenance and neglect account for the decay and loss of countless numbers of historic porches each year. Deterioration from moisture and resultant wood rot, and damage caused by wood-eating insects are common problems that, when left unaddressed too long, can lead to the loss of significant historic fabric. Inappropriate repairs or insensitive alterations, such as the enclosure of a front porch, can be equally destructive and negatively affect the porch's appearance. All these things can alter a building's historic character. To preserve the character of the porch, as well as the historic

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches



Figure 1. Distinctive yet different, these front porches are important features along the street. The rhythm would be diminished if the front porch from one of the houses was dramatically altered or removed. Photo: Aleca Sullivan,

building itself, it is essential to plan carefully before undertaking any work on a historic porch.

This Preservation Brief provides guidance for the everyday care of wood porches on older buildings. It focuses primarily on the maintenance and repair of wood porches, but acknowledges other, often challenging, work as well. This publication provides a brief history of the American porch and identifies its basic structural and decorative elements. It outlines how to assess the condition of a wood porch, how much work may be needed, and how to develop a specific scope of work. Detailed guidance on each level of work is provided, beginning with routine maintenance, followed by general repairs for various porch components, and concluding with replacement of parts that are beyond repair. Recommendations are provided for work that may require professional assistance. Although the Brief primarily addresses residential buildings, much of the information can be applied to wood porches on any structure.

## **Evolution of the Porch**

In colonial America, buildings in the northern colonies tended to echo British precedents with small gable-roofed extensions to

protect main entrances. Whether open or enclosed, these extensions were called *porches* (from Medieval English and the French word *porche*, which stems from the Latin, *porticus*). Also known as porticos when supported by columns, these covered entrances were sometimes designed to respect classical order and details, especially on more stylish buildings. Hooded doors or small covered entryways flanked by benches, often called *stoops* (from the Dutch *stoep* for step) that served as short covered transitions to and from the outdoors were common features, especially in New York and the mid-Atlantic colonies.

During the late 1700s and early 1800s as longer shedroofed porches became more common, they were typically called *piazzas*, as they were then called in England. This term, still popular in some areas of North America, is adapted from the Italian word for open space or plaza. An alternate term for a long open porch, *veranda*, reflects British colonial design influence from the Indian sub-continent.

In French colonial areas, such as the Louisiana Territory, houses were often built with broad roofs extending well beyond the exterior walls to form surrounding porches, known as *galleries*. Porches were also important features of Spanish colonial buildings. In California, for example, many adobe ranches featured a portal with the roof supported by wooden posts. African and Caribbean influences can also be found in North American porch traditions.



Figure 2. Porches not only help define the architectural character of a building but also serve as living areas. They can be designed to take advantage of surrounding views. Cedar Grove, the home of the nineteenth-century landscape painter Thomas Cole, has an L-shaped veranda on the front and a two-story porch on the rear, providing an enviable view of the Catskill Mountains. Photo: Marilyn Kaplan.

By the late eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries, porches became more common in larger, wealthier

areas such as Philadelphia, Boston and Charleston. In both the North and the South, formal colonnades with tall columns dressed in classical orders were sometimes added to help dignify public buildings, hotels, and mansions. This trend continued through the 1830s and 1840s, as the Greek Revival became the dominant architectural style in many areas of North America.

The social role of porches as a transition space between indoors and outdoors and as a link between private and public realms evolved during the 1800s. By offering grand entrances and sheltered landings with views of the surroundings, prominent porches became expected features of inns, hotels and resort spas, where they could serve as promenades, social gathering spots, and refuges for more private retreats. Porches were also added to private homes to serve many of these

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

same functions (Figure 2). As the country began to thrive and expand, porches became more than just covered entrances or ceremonial features; they became an integral part of domestic social life.



Figure 3. Throughout the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries, millwork catalogues offered a wide variety of designs for porch parts, including columns, newels, balusters, spindles and brackets. As extolled in the Cedar Rapid Sash & Door Company's Standards Design Book, stock parts made embellishments to porches affordable both for new construction and "updating" existing homes. Courtesy of Charles Fisher. Some of the most significant factors that aided this shift were America's industrialization and later suburbanization. As improvements to mass production methods helped spur industrial growth, many Americans had more money to spend and more leisure time. Meanwhile a growing middle class was moving to new suburban neighborhoods. Inspired by the pattern books of Andrew Downing and George Woodward and the published designs of such architects as Alexander Jackson Davis and Calvert Vaux, the homes of these mid-1800s suburban neighborhoods were typically ornamented by elaborate porches dressed with fancy millwork. By this time, millwork catalogues and builders' pattern books offered a wide variety of designs for porch parts. With mass production, these fancy brackets and other ornamentation became less expensive, making it easier and more affordable to construct decorative porches (Figure 3). With mechanized wood turning lathes, the cost of posts, balusters and decorative spindle work also decreased to a level affordable by many. Adding a porch with wood ornamentation could enhance even the smallest and simplest of houses. Even older homes could be modernized with a fancy porch addition, stylized to the latest fashion trends. Such changes culminated in the large, highly decorated wraparound porches of the Queen Anne style.

The second half of the nineteenth century was the golden era of porches. The social role of the porch increased as it evolved into an outdoor parlor, a true extension of the house into the

landscape. Often partially screened by shrubs, porches could provide occupants with discreet opportunities for social contacts that might otherwise be difficult to achieve in an age obsessed with manners and proprieties. For many, sitting on the porch became an important part of their daily routine. Perhaps President Rutherford B. Hayes best summed up the love that Victorian-era Americans felt towards their porches when he recorded in his journal in 1873: "The best part of the present house is the veranda. But I would enlarge it. I want a veranda with a house attached."

By the early twentieth century, the hygiene movement, which stressed that access to fresh air could help prevent or remedy such diseases as tuberculosis, contributed to the development and proliferation of the sleeping porch. These porches were usually located on the second floor next to bedrooms. This era also saw the rise in use of insect screening on porches to guard against the discomfort of mosquitoes and the diseases they spread, such as yellow fever and malaria.

While innovations fostered the proliferation of porches in the nineteenth century, new inventions helped lead to its decline in the twentieth. As the automobile boom of the early twentieth century made it easier for people to get out of the house for entertainment and relaxation, porches began to lose popularity, especially as architectural styles and social attitudes changed. With the telephone, neighbors and friends could chat without personally meeting. And housing styles popularized in the construction boom after World War II often omitted front porches all together as backyard patios became the focus of private outdoor activities. Finally in the mid-twentieth century the broad availability of air conditioning and television enticed many people to stay inside at night and brought the golden era of the American porch to an end.

## Understanding the History and Significance of a Porch

In preserving historic buildings, it is important to understand the history and evolution of a particular structure and what features contribute to its historic character. This is especially applicable when working with historic porches since they usually are prominent features, significant to the character of a building.

Answers to the following questions will help establish the significance of a porch.

## What has the porch looked like in the past?

Early photographs, insurance maps, or tax records can provide useful information. These may be found at city or county offices, historical societies, libraries or even from former owners or neighbors. Such documents may indicate the footprint of the building or show long-lost details of the building's appearance. Physical evidence of historic porch footings may exist.

Paint shadows of a former roofline or moldings can provide clues about details now missing. Old porch parts may have been "stored" under the deck during past repairs.

# What, if any, changes have taken place to the historic porch over the years?

On many porches elements such as columns, balusters, and finish details correspond with the design and detailing on the rest of the house. With other porches, the style of these features may differ from the rest of the building, but may reflect an important chapter in its history. Sometimes, parts of porches may have been lost due to neglect or remodeling. Questions about what historic fabric remains, what has been altered over time, and whether earlier changes are now an integral part of the historic character should be resolved before planning major porch work. Determining the historical evolution of the house may require both physical and archival research and in some cases the professional eye of an architectural historian.

# What are the character defining features of the porch?

The open qualities are one of the key features of most historic porches. Overall size, shape and design are obviously important components as well. There are numerous other contributing features which may exist, including the shape of the porch roof, the way a large porch is divided into distinct bays as with columns, the nature of the supporting foundation, the style and size of columns and balustrade, and whether the porch is raised or largely at grade. The simplicity



Figure 4. Celebrating the 4th of July in 1912, this gathering of family and friends reflects the popularity of the porch from the roof balustrade to the not overly ornate, each detail of the porch from the roof balustrade to the turned columns to the simple lattice work facing the deck contributes to its character, creating in effect the dominant architectural feature of the building. Photo: © Utah State Historical Society

of a porch or its richness in detail will also help define it. Materials are usually important as well, not just the wood features, but also whether other materials exist such as masonry columns and steps (Figure 4).

## How does the porch contribute to the building's overall appearance?

The size and location of a porch and how much of the historic features survive will help define its significance. A highly ornate porch across much of the front facade may be the most distinctive feature of the entire house, while a small simple porch on an otherwise plain cottage may be equally significant. The architectural style of a porch may relate to the building and may help define its character. Sometimes a later style porch may have been added to a building or may have replaced an earlier porch. In such cases, the later porch may have acquired importance in its own right. On the other hand, a later porch may be of such poor quality that it detracts from the building's historic character. Because porches are so diverse in terms of style, size, shape and detail, their significance should be assessed on a case-by-case basis with an understanding of the overall importance and evolution of the building.

## The Anatomy of a Porch

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

must rely almost exclusively on the physical examination of the porch, documenting the findings with notes, photographs or sketches.

Many older porches were constructed using good construction practices and materials. As a result, porches that are over 100 years old are not uncommon. Most porch deterioration can be attributed to the lack of proper maintenance. Important questions to address in assessing the condition of the porch include the following:

## How is the porch constructed?

A porch is rarely an independent, unattached structure. It may, however, have its own foundation, attached to the house only along the deck and the roof. Alternatively, it may be an included or engaged porch that is integrated with the actual structure of the house. The relationship between the porch and the house is important. If the outer support posts are decayed or if foundation piers are sinking, the roof structure may be pulling away from the house. Many porch decks are fastened to the main building on a ledger, a horizontal board along the house's foundation. A decaying ledger may compromise the structural integrity of the porch and can represent a major safety issue.

## Are the foundation and structural members of the deck sound and providing adequate support for the deck, posts and roof above?

The porch structure needs to be sound at every level. Therefore, a visual inspection of the underside of the porch is necessary to determine its condition. Major cracks in structural members, failed joints, significant wood rot, or evidence of widespread insect infestations (termites, carpenter ants or powder post beetles, for example) are usually signs of serious structural damage. Such conditions may require consultation with a professional architect, engineer or building contractor familiar with old buildings. For an adequate assessment, it may be necessary to remove facing boards to check for potential decay in the structural sill behind (Figure 5).

## What is the condition of the porch?



Figure 5. Even historic porches that appear to be in total disrepair may be repairable. While the roof needed replacement, much of this porch was repaired, including such features as the decorative columns, ornamental brackets, and balustrade. Photos: John Leeke.

Porch foundations may be a continuous wall of masonry, a series of masonry or wood piers or metal pipes, or a combination of these. Missing sections of

the foundation, crumbling masonry mortar joints, or areas where the sill or joists no longer fully rests on the foundation may represent serious deficiencies. What appear to be deep foundation footings may only be stones or cement blocks sitting on top of the ground. The footings must be stable enough to adequately support the porch in its current or intended use. The smell of mold or appearance of fungal growth on wood beneath the porch is an indication of deficient air circulation and that conditions exist for wood decay. Recent changes that can contribute to deterioration should be identified for correction, such as a clothes dryer vent dumping warm moist air underneath the deck. The enclosure of original air vents in crawl spaces or the boarding up of latticework between piers are other changes that will usually promote an unwanted moist environment.

## Are the porch posts providing adequate support?

Posts, pillars or columns usually help support the porch roof or an upper deck. Establishing what the posts are made of and how they are constructed will aid in understanding how they function and may deteriorate over time (Figure 6). Although the posts on a wood porch are commonly made of wood, they may be of masonry or metal or a combination of materials. Large round columns usually are made of wood staves similar to the way barrels are constructed; smaller diameter columns may be solid. A sag in the deck below or a faltering foundation can impact the supporting role of a column or post above. Wood columns and posts are prone to water seeping into open joints, particularly in the base and the lower end of the shaft. It is not uncommon to find that older columns have had patches and replacement bases.

## Is the roofing and drainage system keeping the water away from the porch?

Porches were designed to shed water. This means water will move away both from the building and the porch and not pond and saturate the wood. Continuously high moisture levels promote fungal growth that eventually causes wood to decay. Peeling paint on ceiling boards in a specific location is a sign of a possible roof leak. Clogged or missing downspouts and

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

- a. Pier, penetrates ground, supports
  floor structural system and columns
- b. Fascia covering floor framing
- c. Floor (or deck)
- d. Bed Molding covering joint between fascia and floor
- e. Column supporting entablature above

## Entablature (f, g, h)

- f. Architrave of entablature
- g. Frieze of entablature
- h. Cornice of entablature

## Roof Railing (i, j, k, l)

- i. Newel (or Pedestal) of roof railing
- j. Balusters of balustrade
- k. Top rail of balustrade
- I. Bottom rail of balustrade

## Balustrade around floor (m, n, o)

- m. Top rail of balustrade
- n. Balusters of balustrade
- o. Bottom rail of balustrade

## Structural system of deck (p, q, r)

- p. Girder rests on piers and ledgers, support joists
- q. Ledger fastened to house sill, supports girder
- r. Joist fastened to girder, supports floor

## Roof Structural System (s, t, u)

- s. Beams inside the entablature span from column to column, support plate
- t. Plate of the entablature rests on beams, supports roof rafters and ceiling beams
- u. Rafter of the roof structural system

## Assessing the Condition

Before undertaking most repairs, it is important to assess the condition of the porch. The assessment is greatly facilitated if the porch has been regularly maintained and a record of past work is available. In most cases, however, a condition survey





Figure 6. A traditional way to extend the life of porch posts was to place posts on metal feet, thereby providing a separation between the wood post and wood deck. This helped to prevent the wood post from rotting at the base. Early post feet were simple iron bars bent unto a stirrup shape. By the late nineteenth century manufactured cast-iron feet were common, consisting of a pair of disks separated by a short pipe. Post feet are still available today. Courtesy of Old-House Journal/Brian Mckheil.

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

gutters can cause erosion at the foundation and can contribute to reversegrade draining that is directing water under the porch instead of into the yard. Inadequately sloped porch floors can result in improper drainage and promote deterioration as exhibited, for example, by cupping floorboards.

## What is the flooring condition?

The porch component most subject to decay is the flooring. Often decay starts at the exposed ends of the boards or where cracks, checks or open joints have occurred and are exposed to the weather. Flooring should be checked frequently for peeling paint, rotted wood, and for loose, cupping or splintery boards. Where water is ponding, there is insufficient slope away from the building, a condition that should be corrected. Floor deterioration can also start in unlikely places such as the result of frequent hose washing to remove dirt or the placement of plant stands directly on the floor without proper moisture barriers. Firewood stored on a porch may trap moisture on the floor and harbor active insect infestation that can be ruinous to a wood porch. Thick floor mats and carpeting also may trap moisture, leading to premature decay.

## Is there evidence of general wood decay?

Wood deterioration may take different forms such as fungal decay, insect infestation or even sunlight degradation of exposed unfinished wood. Decay may be present where two wood surfaces meet and are not adequately protected from water, such as along open joints or behind moldings. Dark streaks, discoloration, and widespread peeling paint on a finished ceiling suggest excessive moisture or water leakage. It may be necessary to remove several finished boards to properly identify the cause of the problem and to insure damage has not extended to structural members behind. Trails of carpenter ants are another sign of potential decay since they will infest moist

decaying wood. Where inadequate painting has left wood exposed for a long time, damage to the wood surface from light itself will occur, typically indicated by wood discoloration. Without sanding or scraping back to a sound wood surface, repainting will result in premature failure of the paint film.

## Are there open cracks or joints in the woodwork?

Tightly sealed connections keep water out. Where individual boards come together, cracks in woodwork and joints can eventually become a major problem (Figure 7). Cracks are primarily caused by movement and water penetration. Movement of structural members beneath the finished woodwork can shift the position of individual boards and trim, breaking open the thin coating of paint over joints. This condition is common on porches with shallow foundations that are subject either to annual winter frost heaving or where soil conditions undergo major seasonal changes in moisture content. Changes in the moisture content of the wood itself due to repeated wetting and drying or changes in seasonal humidity can also cause noticeable expansion and shrinkage across the width of a board. This provides opportunities for water to penetrate unprotected areas.

## Does peeling paint indicate deeper problems?

An unbroken layer of paint covering all wood surfaces is the first line of defense against moisture causing decay. Over time, even hairline paint cracks can allow water to penetrate, causing paint to peel down to bare wood. Such peeling occurs near breaks in the film, at opened joints, or where the paint has been scratched or scraped. Peeling can also occur over large areas where there is high moisture and insufficient ventilation. Areas of particular concern include the crawl space beneath the porch deck, inside columns that lack ventilation, and in a roof structure that has a finished ceiling and lacks ventilation. If heavy paint build-up exists on columns, floors and trim, moisture can be trapped within the wood, resulting in the loss of paint adhesions and eventual wood decay.





Figure 7. Common problems with porches that can contribute to serious wood decay include cracks in woodwork and joints that have opened up. Both provide an easy path for water seepage. Trapped moisture can foster peeling paint, wood decay and insect infestation. Open joints and cracks should be checked for evidence of more serious decay and marked for caulking or repair Photo: John Leeke.

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

#### Are trees, shrubbery and flowerbeds threatening the porch?

Shade trees can make the porch a cool oasis, but the branches of a nearby tree rubbing on the roof, gutters or wood trim often will cause damage. Tree roots may destabilize porch foundations or supports. Bushes growing against the porch and not trimmed back on a regular basis may block wood porch components from drying breezes, thereby letting moisture build up in the woodwork. Flowerbeds and mulch around the porch that are not properly sloped downward in a grade away from the house will promote moisture problems.

## Defining the Scope of Work

Once the historical and physical assessments are complete, it is important to define the scope of work. How much and what kind of work will need to be done to make the porch structurally sound while preserving its historic character, or to recover its historic appearance if portions are extensively deteriorated, altered or missing? Any part of the porch that defines its historic character should be repaired or replaced to match. Since the porch may display varied levels of deterioration, the spectrum of work in one project can include maintenance, repair, and replacement. When laying out the scope of work for the project, each individual component and decorative element of the porch should be identified, and linked with the work needed for that item.

## Undertaking the Work

The highlighted work approaches in this section are based on *The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties* and the *Accompanying Guidelines for Rehabilitating Historic Buildings*. The Standards and Guidelines provide a sound philosophical and practical framework for achieving the highest retention of historic materials and character possible. Thus, the familiar hierarchy is applied: maintain, repair, and then replace only if necessary. Contemporary alterations are discussed in a separate section.

## Preservation and Maintenance

There are a variety of tasks that can be done on a regular basis to extend the life of a porch. In addition, a visual inspection of the porch should be made every spring and fall to determine if more in-depth repairs are necessary. Fortunately, ongoing maintenance significantly reduces both the need and cost for later repair work and represents good preservation practice. When properly maintained, a well-constructed porch can last for decades.

## **Routine Cleaning and Other Surface Work**

Since many porches are essentially another living space, extending housekeeping to this space makes practical sense. Regular maintenance includes sweeping the wood porch decking, and, if needed, an occasional damp mopping. Removing dirt and leaves by sweeping is preferable to frequent hosing off the deck with water. The latter can saturate the woodwork, thereby promoting decay. Frequent sweeping will reduce the accumulation of abrasive materials, such as dirt and sand. While visually pleasing to some, vines and plants should be kept trimmed away and not be trained to grow onto or allowed to grow beneath porches. Plants and vines unfortunately reduce ventilation, promote a moist environment for insects and decay, accelerate open wood joints and impede cyclical maintenance. As an alternative, traditional freestanding trellises can be used to support plant growth away from the porch.

There are certain precautions that are recommended for wood floors. Rubber mats, rugs or indoor/outdoor carpeting can trap moisture and condensation on their underneath side and should not be used on a wooden porch floor. Keeping flower pots up off the wooden deck will help prevent moisture buildup and decayed spots – wood, clay or metal "trivets" that hold the pots an inch or more off the wooden deck are helpful, but the pots should be moved to different locations periodically. In colder climates, light snow can be swept off the porch. Snow shovels with a hard rubber leading edge or plastic shovels cause less damage to wood than metal, while paint in good condition helps ice to release more easily. Sand or clean kitty litter can be sprinkled on ice to prevent slipping; however, they should be later swept off the porch, as they are abrasive. Salt (sodium chloride) is not recommended for ice removal on older porches as it can promote corrosion and failure of nails and other fasteners. Magnesium chloride is an alternate de-icing salt that is less corrosive and less damaging to masonry and plants. If any de-icing salt is used, be sure to scrub and rinse off the porch deck in the spring. Boot scrapers and brush-mats at the bottom of the stairs are recommended for muddy areas.

## Painting

Spot painting and resealing of open joints should be undertaken at least every other year (Figure 8). Heavily used stair treads may require more frequent paint touchup. When peeling paint or bare wood is evident, inspect to ensure it is not signaling deeper problems, such as decay. With sound wood, scrape off the loose paint, sand, prime, and repaint the area. Where lead paint is present, appropriate lead hazard precautions and procedures apply. Only top-quality exterior primers and paints are recommended, selecting for the deck and stairs specially formulated paints. Where wood porch steps are

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

#### 3/30/2021

exposed to moisture, grit added to the wet paint during application will help improve safety.

## Repair

Many repairs may be successfully undertaken by property owners, while major projects often require the special knowledge and equipment of an experienced contractor. Repairs generally include patching and reinforcement of historic materials. The roof and foundation are particularly important to the preservation and the structure of a historic porch yet they often receive much less attention than ornamental features. Their neglect will usually lead to more costly work. Repairs to features such as a balustrade or flooring can encompass limited replacement in kind when the porch part is severely deteriorated or when a part of a repeated feature is missing altogether. Some common porch repairs are discussed in this section.

## **Filling Open Cracks or Joints**

To seal open cracks or joints, start by scraping off the paint back a few inches from the opening and removing old caulk to expose bare wood. The opening should be examined for any signs of wood decay, and to determine if the joint is loose due to a loss of connection, such as rusted nails. After correcting any problems, apply a water-repellant wood preservative that can be painted. Such preservatives are either an oil-based or waterborne solution of oils or waxes with mildewcide, fungicide and pesticide added. Then apply a high quality exterior wood primer to the wood surfaces where a sealant or caulk is to be used. Most open cracks or joints then can be filled



Figure 8. Decay can start when wood is left exposed to the weather or where joints open up. An inexpensive way to extend the life of the existing porch paint without jeopardizing the historic material is spot paint and caulk where needed every year or two. This cost-effective procedure is particularly effective in maintaining wood porches where the exposure to weathering is high. Photo: John Leeke.

with a sealant or caulk, while larger ones may need the addition of a backer rod. In some cases, small metal flashing over the crack or open joint may be more effective and longer lasting but, when used, care should be taken with proper installation. The final step is painting.

## Patching with a Dutchman Repair

This traditional technique is often used to repair localized cases of decayed wood and, when undertaken with skill and care, will serve as a permanent repair (Figure 9). If the damaged area has a structural function, temporary bracing or other support will be necessary. Otherwise the first step after removing any paint around the damaged area is to chisel or mechanically remove the decayed wood. It is best to use the same type of wood being replaced and the new or recycled wood should be seasoned to avoid shrinkage. The repair procedure involves cutting a piece of wood, called a dutchman, slightly larger than the area of damage that has been cut out. The dutchman then is laid over the damaged area and an outline scribed into the original wood surface below. Next, a chisel or router is used to follow the scribed line to form an opening in the existing wood for the new piece. As a preventive measure, an appropriate fungicide should be applied to the surrounding old wood and allowed to dry. The dutchman is then glued into place with waterproof adhesive, such as an epoxy formulated for wood. The repair is finished



Figure 9. The ends of porch roof rafters are often susceptible to moisture decay. When concealed by a soffit or ceiling, rafters can be repaired by adding new sister boards. Where roof rafter ends are exposed, splicing new wood onto the old (dutchman repair) and use of epoxy consolidants and fillers both preserve sound historic fabric while retaining the historic appearance. Photo: Paul Marlowe, Marlowe Restorations.

by trimming or sanding the surface of the new wood down flush with the surrounding existing surfaces, priming and painting.

## **Patching with Epoxy or Wood Fillers**

There are a variety of commercial wood fillers. Cellulose based fillers consist of wood fiber and a binder and have been available in stores for many years. Only those suitable for exterior applications should be used and they will require a protective finish. Epoxies are a more contemporary product, commonly used by experienced contractors and woodworkers. Epoxies are petroleum-based resins created by mixing two components in accurate proportions that result in a chemical

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

reaction. The result is durable, moisture-resistant consolidants and fillers that bonds tenaciously with wood, and can be sawn, nailed or sanded. Epoxies are for use only in areas that will be painted, as they do not take stain and deteriorate under sunlight. Since epoxies are more difficult to work with than other wood fillers, experience working with epoxies is needed for successful repairs.

## **Repairing Railings and Balustrades**

Balustrades and railings are not only practical and safety features, they typically are highly visible decorative elements. Unfortunately, balustrades and balusters are frequently altered, covered, removed or completely replaced even though in most cases they can be repaired in a cost-effective manner. To preserve historic fabric, the repair of old balustrades and railings is always the preferred approach. A broken baluster usually is one in need of repair, not replacement.

Loose railings and balustrades present unsafe conditions and need to be repaired as soon as possible. Start by examining the points of attachment to determine exactly why the railing or balustrade is loose. Common reasons include rusted fasteners, decayed wood, or physical stress that has broken the fasteners or split the wood. Paint and decayed wood must be removed. Where fasteners are broken yet the wood is sound, the balustrade can be re-fastened using hot-dipped galvanized or stainless steel nails or screws, setting the heads of the fasteners below the surface of the wood and using a wood filler to cover and seal. Next repair deteriorated wood by using a dutchman or wood-epoxy repair. The repaired joints then can be sealed and painted.

## **Replacing Missing Balusters**

The balusters help comprise a wood balustrade and come in three general styles: simple rectangular shape; flat, patternsawn (usually a board with some decorative edge or cutout); and turned. It may be necessary to replace certain balusters that are beyond repair or missing altogether. Some are easy to replace with new matching balusters while others can be more challenging in terms of both design and costs. Finding or affording replacement balusters may take time since they should match the historic baluster as closely as possible. In the meantime, unsafe balustrades can be temporarily stabilized, introducing temporary new material that soon will be replaced.

In replacing individual balusters, simple, rectangular balusters should not be replaced with pattern-sawn or turned ones unless physical or pictorial evidence survives which indicate they previously existed historically on that particular porch. Such an alteration can change the historic appearance of the porch or be incompatible with the character of the building.

Determine the size and shape of the missing balusters either by examining adjacent ones or temporarily removing an existing baluster as a sample. Heavy paint buildup should be removed so that the original dimension can be established. Scrape and clean the joint locations and make repairs to any deteriorated areas. A new baluster is then fabricated to match the original in design and material, either on site or by taking a drawing or sample to a local woodworking shop. The new baluster should be made one-half inch longer than needed on both ends. Measurements are taken from the bottom surface of the top rail to top surface of the bottom rail. Joints on the new baluster can be laid out with a pencil, using a sliding bevel to transfer any angles, and the new baluster trimmed to fit with a handsaw. After test fitting, the ends and any exposed end-grain of the baluster need to be sealed with a high-grade primer or epoxy. Next, apply a paintable water-repellant coating to all exposed wood surfaces, and apply a primer. The baluster can then be fastened in place with hot-dipped galvanized or stainless steel nails, and the nails set. Finally, seal joints and fastener holes and paint the baluster.

#### **Repairing Column Plinths and Bases**

Columns not only enrich the historic character of the porch, they provide support for the roof structure above. Because of their detail and complex construction they can be costly to repair or replace, making maintenance and minor repairs important. Column plinths and bases tend to deteriorate because of their exposed location on the outer edge of a porch (Figure 10). Leaking gutters can result in water draining into the entablature and down into hollow columns, while clogged or capped gutters can allow water to pour down and splash back onto the column bases. Open joints and limited wood decay can be repaired using methods previously discussed. Column repairs usually are undertaken by an experienced carpenter, since it may involve structural support of the roof above.

## **Repairing Floorboards and Ceiling Boards**

Floors should slope down toward the outer porch edge for proper drainage. If drainage is inadequate, moisture buildup will cause deterioration of the floorboards. Flooring can also deteriorate due to movement in the supporting structure below. If a floorboard is soft or broken, the extent of decayed or split wood can be determined by probing gently with an awl. The existing floorboard can then be removed, cutting the length if needed so that the end will center on the next nearest joist or girder. Once the board has been removed, the structural framing beneath should be examined for deterioration and to ensure it is sound. A new floorboard is then cut to length, and the outer edge shaped to match the adjacent boards. After priming the replacement board, nail it in place and repaint.

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

If a section of the ceiling is deteriorating, it is likely that there is a roof or gutter problem. To determine the cause of deterioration, inspect the ceiling, gutters and roof, including the internal roof structure. After making necessary repairs, the ceiling boards can be repaired in much the same manner as a deteriorated floorboard.

## **Repairing the Porch Roof and Gutters**

With roof leaks, the entire porch is at risk. Leaks can promote decay in roof rafters, ceiling joists, and columns as well as in areas more easily to detect such as the ceiling and fascia. Inspect the roof covering, gutters and flashing for deterioration and improper performance. They can then be repaired or replaced, as needed, to keep water out of the structure. Avoid having the gutters and downspouts on the main roof drain onto a porch roof.

## **Repairing the Foundation**

Unstable foundation supports can cause serious damage to a historic porch. There are numerous causes and solutions. If the posts supporting the porch deck rest on stones or brick set directly on the ground, there can be seasonal shifts due to the changing moisture content of the soil or freeze/thaw conditions that will require regular attention. Under certain conditions, it may be advisable to extend footings for the posts below the frost line. Where moisture problems exist, improved drainage may be necessary. It is not uncommon to find that masonry joints in the foundation wall or piers have deteriorated as a result of rising damp, where moisture from the soil percolates up through mortar joints. This condition may lead to the eventual breakdown of the mortar and even old brick and soft stone. In such cases, it will be necessary to replace





Figure 10. This nineteenth century porch column is made of wood staves, similar to the way a wood barrel is put together. After replacing the torus and making dutchmar repairs to the apophyge along the base, the column and pedestal are ready to be reinstalled on the porch. Photos: NPS files.

the areas of damaged masonry and repoint the mortar joints. With wooden posts, insect damage or rot may necessitate corrective measures to strengthen the foundation. Techniques

can include one or more of the following: epoxy consolidation; dutchman repair; or the addition of supplemental supports to the foundation posts and joists. In some cases damage may be extensive enough that the only real solution is rebuilding the foundation.

## **Repairing a Porch Apron**

The apron, skirt, or latticework is a highly visible and functional porch feature. An apron keeps animals out from under the porch, while at the same time allowing air to circulate, preventing unwanted moisture buildup. Aprons typically are made up of a wood frame, surrounding either a simple lattice or a repetitive pattern of decorative sawn boards. Because the frame is so close to the ground, decay is common. Other causes of decay include plantings around the house that are growing too close to the latticework and improper water drainage. An apron may require partial or complete disassembly for proper repair. One or more of the apron frames should either be hinged or secured with turn buttons for easy access to under a porch for inspection and maintenance.

## Replacement

When individual porch parts are deteriorated beyond the point of repair or missing altogether, replacement is necessary. To retain the historic character of the porch, the replacement parts should match the historic component as closely as possible in material, design, color, texture, and other qualities. To achieve this, existing evidence of the historic design, such as a baluster or column detail, or a tongue and groove floor design, should serve as a pattern for the replacement part. When replacing an element, it may provide a good opportunity to upgrade the wood to another species that is more decay resistant, or to one with a vertical grain that is more resistant to cupping or splintering. In limited cases, it may be appropriate to use a substitute material for the replacement material as long as it conveys a close visual match. Before replacing a deteriorated historic porch component, it is important to understand how it was constructed and installed, and what lead to its deterioration. If the replacement part does not sufficiently match the historic part, the character of the porch may be diminished, or even lost. If the cause of material failure is not addressed, the replacement will also fail.

## **Replacing Porch Floorboards**

If a large section of the porch floorboards is deteriorated, the framing beneath may also be damaged and should be assessed. Replacing floorboards can often expand into repairing the structural sills, girders, and joists beneath. Complete floor replacement will likely require the removal of floorboards that are under structural posts or columns. This may necessitate the careful stabilizing in place or the removal of the posts or columns and the installation of temporary support for the roof structure. If the floor failure was caused by inferior wood, the wood quality can be improved at this time.

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

However, the new wood flooring should match the existing in thickness, width, shape and texture. The slope of the floor should be maintained, or a slope may need to be created if none exists. A slope of ¼ inch per foot or greater, away from the house, is needed for adequate drainage. Boards are usually laid in the direction of the slope, sloping down to the outer edge of the floor.

## **Replacing Steps**

Porch stairs receive heavy usage and are close to the ground, making them predictable candidates for deterioration. Stairs should be repaired or, if necessary, replaced by an experienced carpenter who understands the safety codes and is experienced in fabricating custom stair parts to match original detailing without depending only on store-bought parts.

## **Replacing Column Plinths and Bases or Entire Columns**

When plinths and bases are deteriorated beyond repair, they can be replaced without replacing the column shaft, which may still be in good condition or require only minor repairs at the bottom. Such replacement will involve temporary shoring for the roof. One-story columns and shafts are often more easily removed during this work, while taller columns are sometimes supported in place. If only a few plinths or bases are deteriorated, it is often economical to have new ones made of wood to match. If numerous plinths and bases are deteriorated, replacing with bases made of rot-resistant materials can make economic sense; however, care must be taken to ensure that all the visual qualities including design, size, shape, color and texture of the historic part are matched (Figure 11).

Entire columns may need to be replaced, but an owner should first consider all repair alternatives. Some contractors routinely recommend complete replacement of one or all columns due to the challenge of a clean repair (particularly with stave-built columns), or because they see the potential for more profit in complete replacement. If a contractor recommends complete replacement, other opinions should be sought to ensure repair is truly not feasible. Preserving the historic appearance of old columns is not the same as preserving historic columns.



Figure 11. The lower shaft of the porch columns had decayed as water wicked up through the end grain (top). The column shafts were repaired in place by cutting out the deteriorated wood and making repairs using epoxy consolidants and fillers. (bottom). The column bases were replaced. Photos: Paul Marlowe, Marlowe Restorations.

Where a replacement turned or staved column is needed, a local millwork

may be able to match the profile or pattern. Alternatively, the Internet is helpful in identifying potential sources of replacement columns that can match the appearance of the remaining ones.

Species	Cut or Grade	Cost	Workability	Resistance to Decay	Resistance to Cupping	Paint Holding Ability	
Redwood	Clear, Vertical-grain, all-heart	\$\$\$	Fair	Excellent	Excellent	Excellent	
	"B" Select, flat-grain	\$\$	Fair	Excellent	Good	Good	
Cedar	Clear	\$\$	Fair	Excellent	Good	Fair	
Cypress	Clear	\$\$	Fair	Excellent	Fair	Good	
Douglas Fir	"C" & better, Vertical grain	\$\$	Fair to Poor	Good to Fair	Excellent	Fair	
Southern Yellow Pine	"D" Select, flat-grain	\$	Fair	Fair	Good	Fair	
	Vertical-grain	\$\$\$	Fair	Fair	Excellent	Fair to Good	
Eastern White	"D" Select, flat-grain	\$	Excellent	Fair	Excellent	Good	

## Wood Characteristics

Pine

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

	Vertical-grain	\$\$\$	Excellent	Fair	Good	Excellent
Poplar	Firsts and Seconds	\$	Good	Poor	Good	Fair
American Mahogany	Clear	\$\$\$	Excellent	Excellent	Excellent	Good

This table summarizes the characteristics of just a few of the different species available, including the workability of the wood (indicating a better wood for decorative porch pieces), the resistance to decay (an important feature for all porch components), resistance to cupping (a wood highly resistant to cupping is a better choice for floor board replacement) and paint holding ability. The Cut or Grade is also listed, as a low-grade wood can perform very differently than a higher grade in the same species. Cost will vary depending on region and market supply and demand. In general, it is best to contact two or three local lumberyards to find the available woods with the characteristics needed in the local market. Source: Practical Restoration Report, Exterior Woodwork Details.

## **Replacement Materials**

## Wood

When selective replacement is necessary, the key to success is the selection of suitable wood. Dimensional stability, decay resistance and paint holding ability are wood characteristics that effect durability. Wood that expands and shrinks too much can cause paint to crack. Substances found naturally in certain kinds of wood repel fungi and insects that destroy wood. Selecting wood that is relatively stable and naturally decay resistant helps avoid problems.

The wood from trees cut one and two centuries ago was much different than most wood available today. The mature trees in older forests grew very slowly and, as a result, the annual growth rings were very close together. Today, trees grown by commercial companies for their lumber are fast growing so they can be harvested sooner. As a result, commercially farmed trees have annual growth rings much further apart, resulting in the cut lumber being less strong and decay resistant than older timber. These differences in quality are one of the reasons it makes sense to save old wood when possible.

**Wood Selection:** When choosing wood for repair and replacement work, the species, grade, grain and environmental impacts should be taken into consideration. This is especially applicable to historic porches because of their high exposure to the weather and vulnerability to decay. The best species are those with good natural resistance to decay, such as redwood, cypress, cedar or fir. A clear (knot free) grade of wood is best; however, if clear wood is not readily available or too expensive, a grade with small or tight knots is acceptable. Finally, the use of more stable vertical grain lumber is preferable to flat grain boards. Vertical grain lumber expands and contracts less with changes in moisture content, resulting in reduce warping and checks. Paint thus will hold better. The downside to using vertical grain boards is the cost, which tends to be as much as two to three times the price of flat grain lumber in the same grade and species. However, this expense is typically recovered through lower maintenance costs over the years. Thus, a decay-resistant, high-grade, vertical grain lumber is the best choice for the replacement of deteriorated porch elements, particularly flooring, stairs and milled elements such as balusters and moldings.

The best species to choose will vary depending on the region the house is located. For example, in the South, cypress is more available, making it the selection of choice in the region. Because of this wood's relative ease with which a carpenter can shape it, cypress is a good choice for replacing brackets and trim boards on a porch. In contrast, vertical grain Douglas fir is less workable, but is a very good choice for the replacement of porch floorboards in most climates. Although Douglas fir is from the Northwest, it is generally available throughout the country. For most protected trim boards on porches, white pine is a good choice as it is easy to work and is moderately decay resistant, especially if the wood is back-primed before installation. Availability of any specific wood will change annually based on market supply and demand.

**Chemically Treated Wood:** Chemical wood preservative treatments are available to resist insect and fungal attack, but care should be taken to avoid using ones that may cause environmental or health risks. Borate preservatives can be applied to surfaces or injected to penetrate and protect the entire volume of the wood. Preservatives with zinc napthenate can be applied to the wood surface, where necessary, especially to protect hidden joinery and the end grains of wood. Water-repellants can also be used to help seal out moisture. Finally, primers and paints should be applied to both protect the wood and to maintain the historic character of the porch. Note that these treatments are different than those used on most pressure-treated wood, which is typically a plantation-grown southern pine of lower quality that is impregnated with chemicals. Pressure-treated lumber can be effective when used for hidden structural members like posts, joists and sills.

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

However, because typical pressure-treated wood is very susceptible to the deterioration of checks, warping and splitting, especially when left unpainted, it is not a good substitute for the better quality wood that is needed for visible finish porch parts.

## **Stock Components**

For over a century, prefabricated architectural parts have been sold through catalogues or at home improvement stores. Some companies still make generic, stock architectural components in the same general sizes and designs as those that were first manufactured. These components can be available in both wood and substitute materials. Thus, it may be possible to replace a historic stock component, such as an architectural grade column, with a new prefabricated column that matches the original. Unfortunately, these replacement parts are not designed to match the historic parts of any particular porch. Because traditionally there were many different porch elements, a wide range of styles and considerable regional variations, stock replacement parts available today are not often found to match what is needed in a specific porch repair project. When faced with deterioration of a few porch parts, all the historic material should not be removed in favor of a readily available stock design that does not match the historic appearance. The expressed goal may be to create a porch with a "consistent look," but this approach diminishes the building's historic character and authenticity.

## **Plastic and Composites**

A variety of modern materials are marketed today as a substitute for wood. They are usually composite materials typically in the form of plastic resins, including vinyl (PVC), fiber-reinforced polymers and polyester resin. There are other products on the market as well, including medium density wood fiberboard and composite fiber-cement boards. The market is ever changing with the introduction of new synthetic materials and the re-formulation of existing ones. The more costly synthetic products tend to offer the best potential for matching historic features while offering good durability. This means that potential cost savings over new wood tends to be more long term than immediate. Such products generally are not carried in local home improvement stores but rather are available from building supply companies or direct through catalog sales.

The historical significance of a particular property and its porch influences decisions regarding possible use of substitute materials. In general, greater emphasis is placed on authenticity and material integrity when maintaining and repairing individually significant historic properties. However, a front porch that is repeated on rowhouses may be one of the defining characteristics of the historic district and thus of importance to the entire streetscape. So, too, can the location and appearance of a porch influence material decisions, as with, for example, a prominent front porch with ornate detailing as opposed to a small porch over a rear door.

Thus, when the historic porch contributes to the historic character of a building, the particular substitute material that is being considered should accurately match the appearance of the wooden feature being replaced. Composite materials that can be routed or shaped in the field to match specific pieces being replaced have greater potential for use in repairing a historic porch. Materials that cannot be shaped to match the visual appearance of the historic pieces being replaced usually are not suitable for use on historic buildings.

Substitute materials need to be finished to match the appearance of the historic elements being replaced. In nearly all cases, this means that the material should be painted, or where historically appropriate, stained as with some porch ceilings. While there are substitute materials being marketed as pre-finished with either a plain flat surface or generic wood-grain texture, select those that can be painted or stained in the field.

When a substitute material is to be used in conjunction with existing or new wood material, it is important to consider the differences in expansion and contraction due to temperature and moisture changes. Before making a decision, it is also important to understand how a particular substitute material will age, what its maintenance requirements are, and how the material will deteriorate. For example, sunlight can break down exposed surfaces of plastic resins, so painting the surfaces is needed just as with wood. Low and medium density plastic foam parts are easily damaged by abrasion and physical damage, exposing the interior foam to weathering.

Wood porches are just that, porches made out of wood, just as a brick houses are made of brick and cast-iron porches are made of cast-iron. The type of materials used historically in the construction of a building helps define its character. Limited use of substitute materials that closely match missing or deteriorated features may not endanger this historic character, but wholesale replacement with substitute materials usually will.

## **Considerations for Contemporary Alterations**

## Enclosures

Much of the character of a historic open porch is clearly its openness. Therefore, in most cases, a historic open porch should not be enclosed. If a porch enclosure is being considered, its significance and location—as well as the nature of the planned enclosure—play key roles in whether it can be done without changing the porch's and building's historic character. While it

is almost never appropriate to enclose a front porch on a historic building to create interior space, enclosing a less prominent porch on a less visible elevation could have less impact. In addition, an enclosure should retain as many of the historic porch features as possible (Figure 12).

# Insect Screening and Awnings

Traditionally, the seasonal use of porches was extended with screens and awnings. Screened porches have been popular since the advent of inexpensive and durable wire insect screening in late 1800s. Screens were often set unobtrusively behind railings and columns so the decorative components of the porch remained prominent and visible. Since screens can be damaged easily, the screening material

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches



Figure 12. This old porch enclosure, located on the back side of a house, has acquired significance over time and is remarkable both in the appropriateness of its detailing for use by others today, as well as its high degree of maintenance. The enclosure is set behind the columns; the balustrade has been retained; and the light divisions and the size of the glass panes echo that of the windows above. Within each bay there are two well-crafted, inward swinging doors, providing for greater seasonal use of the porch. Photos: Charles Fisher.

was often set in slender, easy to repair, removable wood frames that could be installed during the warmer months, and stored in the winter. When screening a porch today, this historic precedent is recommended. Screened panels should have minimal wood framework painted either to match the porch or in a darker color to make the framing less visible. Decisions on whether screens should be installed inside the porch railings and posts, between the posts, or on the outside will depend on local traditions and on the design of the porch and trim. Screen doors on porches should be sized to fit proportionately with the porch, made of wood, and hung to swing out so insects are not brought inside with use.

Awnings, drop curtains, and valances were common porch accessories during the nineteenth and well into the twentieth centuries. Both functional and decorative, these canvas features helped shield porches from the sun's direct rays, while their colorful stripes embellished and complemented the house's exterior. Some awnings were fixed in place; others were of a roller assembly that allowed owners to easily lower or retract the awning, depending on weather conditions.

Today, modern solution-dyed acrylic fabrics—materials that resemble, but are more durable than canvas—are often used on porch awnings and drop curtains. When new awnings are installed on a historic porch, the selected awning should be appropriate in shape, material, size and color. Care should be used not to damage existing historic porch features such as columns or cornices.

## **Temporary Enclosures**

Temporary enclosures allow a porch to be used in colder months while not permanently altering its appearance. In fact some have become historic features of buildings. Particularly in New England, there is a continuing tradition of installing relatively substantial glass and wood panels on porches during the winter, especially around an entrance door. These tended to have small divided lights. Sometimes porches were fully enclosed with a divided light glass door for entry, creating an enclosed vestibule that reduced the amount of cold air entering the house when the door was opened. Others consisted of simple sidewalls perpendicular to an existing entrance door, serving as a windbreak. Such enclosures were generally removed in the spring (Figure 13).

In recent years, some porches have been enclosed during the winter with plastic sheeting (polyvinyl) for perceived energy conservation or for creation of an enclosed space. Such a treatment generally diminishes a building's historic character and is not recommended for highly visible porches.

## **New Permanent Enclosures**

Enclosure of a historic porch can result in significant changes in the appearance and character of the building. When considering the possible enclosure of a porch, a number of questions and concerns should be successfully addressed.

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

## Is the porch on a significant elevation of the building? A porch on a

prominent elevation was there to be seen and its open qualities are visually important. Enclosing such a space should be avoided.



Figure 14. The enclosure of a prominent porch can dramatically change the historic character of a building. The L-shaped porch on this 1896 Shingle-style New England residence was later enclosed with aluminum windows and screens. Recent owners elected to reopen the historic porch. Among the other work, it was necessary to correct structural damage, as with this post, where beneath the wood casing carpenter ants had done serious damage. In reopening the porch, the historic character of the residence has been brought back and the traditional use of the porch is once again enjoyed. Photos: Mark Landry, Landmark Services.

## Is the enclosure necessary?

An enclosure will undoubtedly change the porch as a historic feature and may result in damage or loss of historic materials. Depending on the significance of the porch and the nature of the building, a new porch enclosure may also change the historic character of the building. Consideration should be given to alternate solutions such as recapturing underutilized space in an attic or basement (Figure 14).

Is the porch a highly distinctive feature of the building? Even porches on secondary and rear elevations can be distinctive, such as a



Figure 13. Particularly in New England, there is a cold weather tradition of installing temporary glass and wood panels at entrance doors, thereby creating an enclosed vestibule. These enclosures with their small divided lights were generally removed in the spring. Photo: John Leeke.

two-story porch on the side ell of a farmhouse. Porches ornamented with decorative trim that embellishes the house can also be distinctive. Enclosing these features should also be avoided whenever possible.

Is the porch a feature repeated on a row of buildings in a historic district? Open front porches on a block of row houses can be not only important to an individual building but can also make up a significant feature of the streetscape. Enclosing such a porch usually is inappropriate even if a porch on an adjacent building already has been enclosed.

Will the proposed enclosure encompass the entire porch? History has shown that the enclosure of a portion of a porch on a secondary elevation does not always alter the character of a building. In the past as indoor plumbing was introduced to old buildings, the partial enclosure of a one or two-story porch on a secondary elevation was a convenient means of providing new bathroom space while limiting disruption to the building's interior. Since early bathrooms were traditionally small in size, most of the existing porch could be retained as open space. It was common to create new walls set either between columns or behind them, since the columns usually served a structural as well as decorative purpose. Where sleeping porches with full-length louver shutters were present, the new wall could simply be set behind and the shutters retained and fixed in place. In both cases the resulting effect minimized the impact of the partial enclosure on the

appearance of the building. This also provides us with an approach that may be appropriate for a particular project today.

Will the enclosure result in the loss of considerable historic fabric? Unless the historic porch is so deteriorated that it is beyond repair, any consideration of enclosing all or part of a porch should incorporate retention of historic fabric. This may mean that the existing structural system needs to be augmented but generally not replaced. Distinctive features such as columns, brackets and balustrades should be retained and the new wall set behind them.

Is the foundation adequate for the enclosure of the porch and the new use of the space? Porches were often built on simple posts or piers, some with only minimum footings. Such structural supports may be inadequate to carry the added load of the proposed changes and the typical low space beneath a first floor porch may make installing a new porch foundation difficult and expensive. Such installations may result also in an extensive loss of historic fabric.

## Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

How will the proposed enclosure be viewed from the outside once the interior space is furnished? One of the approaches to enclosing a porch is to utilize near full glazing set behind existing columns in an attempt to retain a feeling of transparency. Whether such a treatment is successful depends on how it will look once it is constructed and how will the appearance on the outside be impacted by interior lighting, mechanical systems and furnishings. The traditional use of plantings and porch awnings for shade also provided extended privacy. If historically appropriate, an existing or new awning and plantings may help to reduce the impact of a porch enclosure on a secondary but visible elevation.

Is the design of the proposed porch enclosure in keeping with the historic character of the building? Where the enclosure of all or part of a historic porch is appropriate, the selection of a compatible design and materials is important. Windows, doors, and wall material selection, along with how the new infill fits within the existing porch, are all factors to consider. A traditional technique of porch enclosures still used today involves the insertion in each



Figure 15. A traditional technique of porch enclosures still used today involves the insertion in each column bay of one or more glass enclosures set in wood frames. This enclosure is properly set back an entire porch bay from the front of the house and utilizes traditional light divisions and wood frames. The balustrade, added here for illustration purposes, shows the importance of retaining this linear feature within the enclosed bays. Photo: Charles Fisher.

column bay of one or more glass enclosures set in wood frames. The enclosures are located between or behind the columns, depending upon the nature of the porch, and mimic the pattern or size of glass panes found in historic windows on the building (Figure 15). An alternate treatment involves the use of much larger sheets of clear, non-reflective glass recessed behind the porch supports, balustrade and railing. This more contemporary treatment may be appropriate, depending upon the historic character of the building, location of the porch, and other factors (Figure 16). Windows, doors, and wall material selection, along with how the new infill fits within the existing porch, are all factors to consider.



Figure 16. The use of near full glazing to enclose a porch may be appropriate depending upon the historic character of the building, location of the porch, how the interior space is to be treated, and other factors. This enclosure of a rear porch to create a conference room successfully utilizes large expanses of glass and narrow metal framing set behind existing porch elements (a through e). Where an additional horizontal support was needed (f), the frame was placed at a Location that is found in many traditional insect screen enclosures. Photo: Charles Fisher.

## Safety and Building Codes

There are many building codes used by states and municipalities across the nation, with a majority of their requirements being very similar and focused on new construction. Building codes such as the International Building Code and its companion, the International Existing Building Code, have been developed in recent years that are generally much more sensitive to existing and historic buildings, emphasizing the retention of historic fabric without jeopardizing life safety. These "proportional codes," as they are called, allow building inspectors greater flexibility to make decisions based on the specific circumstances of each building, and the type and extent of work planned.

Successful rehabilitation work achieves a balance between building and safety code considerations and the retention of historic design and materials. The porch is no exception. The most common porch elements affected by code requirements are railing/balustrade height, baluster spacing, stair geometry, and structural system. When a historic porch is so deteriorated that a substantial portion must be replaced, modern building code requirements are usually triggered. These requirements are often more stringent for multi-family or commercial structures than single-family houses.

It is important to ensure that the code-required work be done in a manner that is sympathetic to the historic character of the building. If building code requirements threaten the historic character of the porch, alternatives that reconcile the two should be explored. Many local jurisdictions issue waivers or variances for historic buildings, allowing for historic elements to be retained, when it can be demonstrated that safety will not be compromised.

In the event that an alteration to a historic porch is required to make the porch safe to use, care should be taken in planning and undertaking the work. Fortunately, there are usually a number of options that are possible, although one is usually the most appropriate preservation solution.

## **Structural Loads**

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

Ensuring that the structure's foundation can support the specified load is a primary safety issue for porches. Fortunately, repairs and upgrades to improve structural stability are generally made to the foundation at or below grade, and can usually be concealed under the porch or behind finish details. Weakened joists can often be strengthened with the addition of sister joists, epoxy structural repair, or the insertion of new concealed structural members (Figure 17).

## Stairs

Historic stair risers are sometimes too steep and treads too shallow to meet contemporary building codes or the special needs of the occupants. In the latter case, the addition of a simple handrail that meets code may suffice. In instances where there is another stairway that meets code, for example a side stair, it may be possible to retain the existing non-conforming historic stairway.

Modifications to bring porch stairs into conformance with code can be difficult. Where buildings are set close to the street, it may not be possible to rebuild the stairs in the same direction to meet code if they will have to extend onto a public sidewalk. Unless a variance is obtained, it may be necessary to turn the stairs to be parallel rather than perpendicular to a building. Where wood stairs need to be rebuilt, the historic finish details, such as moldings, cut work and edge detailing, should be reflected in the new construction. One common mistake is the replacement of wood stairs or brick steps with concrete, a material that may not be in keeping with the historic building.



Figure 18. When a porch is used as a wheelchair accessible entrance, it may be possible to retain the historic stairs by adding a ramp parallel to the building. Through plantings and some re-grading, the new ramp

Where a porch must be used as a wheelchair accessible entrance, two general issues arise. If there is an elevation difference greater than 1/2- inch between the porch deck and the front door threshold, a simple threshold ramp may suffice. In cases where the elevation difference is larger than can be accommodated by a simple threshold ramp, a level platform with sufficient turning radius at the door for a wheelchair may be necessary. The other issue is devising a means for wheelchair access from the grade to the porch deck when the porch is the only entrance alternative. It may be possible to retain the historic stairs by adding another entrance to the porch with the construction of a ramp parallel to the building (Figure 18).

## **Baluster Spacing**



Figure 17. The porch's structural system must be capable of supporting today's loads. In this case moisture led to the deterioration of the wood girder at the corner, creating a major structural deficiency (top). A new solid timber was installed to replace the girder (middle); a liternatively a built-up girder could have been used since a fascia board would conceal it. The column base was repaired and portions replaced and the balustrade and column reset and secured (bottom). Photos: Paul Marlowe, Marlowe Restorations.

Codes generally require for children's safety that new balusters are spaced such that a four-inch sphere cannot fit through. Vertical balusters on older porches are often spaced farther apart than this. If modifications are required, inserting narrow metal rods between the existing balusters may be a

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

built parallel to the building (left) allows retention of the historic stairs and does not impact the historic character of the entrance (right). Photo: Iowa State University Extension.

compatible and inconspicuous solution, particularly if painted flat black or another dark color. This is generally preferable to moving the balusters closer together or adding more balusters to fill the gaps.

### **Railing/Balustrade Heights**

Historic porches generally have handrails that measure 28 to 30 inches in height from the floor. Current code requirements for new construction generally mandate that railings be 36 to 42 inches in height (often 36 inches for single family dwellings, and 42 inches for multi-family dwellings and commercial buildings). Raising the historic railing by as much as 30% or more can have a major impact on not just the proportions of the balusters, but also on the overall appearance of a historic porch. Adding a simple rail above the historic railing and painting it to hide its presence as much as possible is generally the least intrusive solution when this safety requirement must be met. Similarly, an existing bottom rail is sometimes set too high off the deck to meet contemporary code requirements. The addition of a simple wood rail or even a narrow metal pipe below the bottom rail will usually suffice (Figure 19).

It is not uncommon to find historic porches with decks only several steps off the ground and with no railings. For owner-occupied residences undergoing rehabilitation, local codes usually will not require the addition of railings to these existing porches, provided the porch deck is below a certain height off the ground—typically from 18 to 24 inches. Where greater safety is warranted even though no railing is required, alternatives such as planting an adjacent hedgerow, installing planter boxes between columns, or raising the grade are worth considering. Where not practical or acceptable, a railing might be added so as to not noticeably impact the appearance of the historic porch. Any solution, however, should be simple and based on the character of a specific porch, and its appropriateness considered on a case-by-case basis.



## Summary and References

Wood porches have made an enduring contribution to our built environment. Porches are significant because of the special character they impart to a historic building and their role in our social and cultural history. A porch is an open sheltered part of a building, providing a covered entrance and, where Figure 19. Historic porches generally have railings that measure 28 to 30 inches in height from the floor. When additional height is necessary for safety, a simple rail, added for illustration purposes in this photograph, can usually be installed above the historic railing. Not only does this treatment allow retention of the historic balustrade, but it also has a minimum impact to the appearance of the porch. Photo: Charles Fisher.

larger, serving as an outdoor activity room. It represents an outward extension of a building, a place guests can initially be sheltered from the weather, even welcomed and entertained.

Like all historic building features, wood porches require routine maintenance to prevent decay. Understanding how a porch is put together and the factors that cause deterioration will help considerably in carrying out both maintenance and needed repairs. Regular maintenance pays off not only with a good appearance but also by reducing the need for future repairs. With both maintenance and repairs, emphasis should be placed on preserving the historic fabric and significant features of a porch. Where components are deteriorated beyond repair or missing altogether, new pieces should be installed that match the historic ones. Fortunately, good craftsmanship and the use of quality replacement materials as needed will be rewarded with repairs that last. Attentive care will result in the historic porch retaining its charm both in appearance and in function.

#### Acknowledgements

John Leeke is a Preservation Consultant in Portland, Maine; Aleca Sullivan is an Architectural Historian in Evanston, Illinois.

Numerous individual generously provided their time and shared their knowledge in making this Preservation Brief possible. Thomas D. Visser, Historic Preservation Program, University of Vermont, deserves special recognition for his insightful contributions. Also gratefully acknowledge for their assistance in reviewing this publication are Neal A. Vogel, Restoric LLC and Judith L. Kitchen, Ohio State Historic Preservation Office. Thanks go to Marilyn Kaplan, Preservation Architecture, for her contributions to the code section of this publication. Special thanks also go to the following staff of the National Park Service's Technical Preservation Services office for their review and assistance: Sharon Park, FAIA, Michael Auer, Anne E. Grimmer, and particularly to former staff Kay Weeks. Thanks also go to Chad Randl, Kaaren Staveteig and Liz Creveling of the National Park Service's Technical Preservation Service for their assistance and to Peter de Paola, Mark Landry of Landmark Services, and Paul Marlowe of Marlowe Restorations.

This publication was under the technical and editorial direction of Charles E. Fisher of the National Park Service's Technical Preservation Services whose considerable contributions, including that of the section on new permanent enclosures, helped made this publication possible.

#### Preservation Brief 45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches

This publication has been prepared pursuant to the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, which directs the Secretary of the Interior to develop and make available information concerning historic properties. Comments about this publication should be addressed to: Charles Fisher, Technical Preservation Publications Program Manager, Technical Preservation Services—2255, National Park Service, 1849 C Street, NW, Washington, DC 20240. This publication is not copyrighted and can be reproduced without penalty. Normal procedures for credit to the authors and the National Park Service should be provided. The photographs used in this publication may not be used to illustrate other publications without permission of the owners.

October 2006

## **Reading List**

Davis, John Michael. "Exterior-Trim Details That Last," Fine Homebuilding, August/September 2001.

Fisher, Charles E. and Hugh C. Miller, eds., *Caring for Your Historic House*, New York, NY: Harry N. Abrams, Inc., 1998.

Kitchen, Judith L. Caring for Your Old House: A Guide for Owners and Residents, Somerset, NJ: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1991.

Leeke, John C. Practical Restoration Reports Compendium, Portland, ME: Historic HomeWorks, 2005.

Nash, George. "Renovating Old Porches: Common Problems Can Be Solved With Simple Repairs," *Fine Homebuilding*, July 1982.

Preservation Briefs, Washington, DC: National Park Service, Technical Preservation Services: 1978-present.

Preservation Tech Notes, Washington, DC: National Park Service, Technical Preservation Services: 1984-present.

Reed, Douglas C. "Detailing Early Porches," Old House Journal, May/June 2001 and July-August 2001.

Visser, Thomas D. Porches, Piazzas & Verandas, forthcoming.

Weeks, Kay D., and Anne E. Grimmer. *The Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties with Guidelines for Preserving, Rehabilitating, Restoring & Reconstructing Historic Buildings,* Washington, DC: National Park Service, 1995.



EXPERIENCE YOUR AMERICA™



## Certificate of Appropriateness Application Presentation of Information By Kathy McKenney

COA#21-000006 Address: 222 Washington Street Project Contact: Ray Beall

## **Project Summary**

The new owner of this property has identified some work that he would like to complete, some of which is intended to replace previously removed architectural details and other will help to provide needed upkeep. Most of the proposed work will take place related to the various components of the front porch.

According to the most recently updated district survey, this structure is considered "contributing" to the Canal Place Preservation District. The survey documents that the structure was constructed c. 1900 in the Queen Anne/Stick Style which accounts partially for why this structure is not necessarily as ornate as other Queen Anne structures. Essentially it seems to pull design elements into almost a hybrid of both styles.

The applicant has received a copy of a historic post card, a scan of which has been included in this application. Different details to the front porch can be observed on these post cards which, if true to the appearance of this structure in the 1920s, show balustrades and spindles on the front porch that no longer exist. The historic postcards are not necessarily photographs, especially since color film was not available until a few decades later.

I have searched through older permits and could not ascertain when these modifications took place but it does appear, however, that the structure had two, then later three, apartments within it in the 1970s. There does appear to be visible evidence of removed components when viewing these existing features. The applicant intends to replicate these features, using wood.

The applicant has provided a narrative of the scope of work. He has proposed to remove previous porch roof repairs, which have failed and are causing damage through water infiltration, and correcting the issues by installing handcrafted copper hidden gutters. Since the soffit and fascia has been damaged, they are to be replaced. **The applicant has not yet confirmed the materials that will be used to replace the soffit and fascia.** 

The applicant has provided a color palette for painting but has not yet detailed how those colors are to be applied. The colors are all from the Sherwin Williams line and include Roycroft Vellum, accenting with Rockwood Dark Green, Rockwood Amber, and Rockwood Red. He confirmed by email that he does not intend to paint the unpainted brick. I have inserted that email here:

# Re: 222 Washington Street Questions

Inbox

## R Bell

to me

Tue, Mar 30, 11:53 PM (7 days ago)

Kathy,

I will forward you a picture later today of the walkway area between our building and Steve Wilkinson's building showing where the gate will be located. There is not a manufacturer's cut sheet or other specs for the gate. We are trying to obtain an old, original iron gate, circa early 1900's.

As to the brick, we are absolutely NOT painting it because it is unpainted and has been repointed.

When it comes to the point that we remove the carpeting from the porch (which may not be this spring) the floor will be painted in one of the colors of the palette we have given you.

The handrails, spindles, and brackets will be wood. Although we do not have a mock-up of the spindles, as can be seen on the one photograph, they were originally round, thin, and curved and we are going to replicate that. We are custom making these. The height of the original railing and of the brackets can clearly be seen on the original posts that are still there. Picture will follow.

As to the missing design elements, I was referring to the original railing and brackets that were removed. It is obvious from the photos that there was nothing overly ornate on the building.

The porch roof is not being replaced, only repaired. The hidden gutter is being replaced with custom hidden copper gutter.

Thanks, Ray Beall

# 222 Washington Street Questions

Kathy McKenney <kathy.mckenney@cumberlandmd.gov>

Mar 30, 2021, 10:01 AM (7 days ago)

to R

Good Morning,

I am glad to see that you were successful in getting the application for the Certificate of Appropriateness started. In reviewing what you have entered so far, I wanted to see if you could provide a few additional details and specifications in order to complete the request.

Could you provide a site plan to show the location where the gate will be located? Also, could you provide a manufacturer's cut sheet or a photo of the design specifications (including materials) for the gate?

Also, could you provide the design specifications to be used (including materials) for the handrails, porch roof, balustrade and spindles, as well as the brackets?

In terms of the missing design elements, I could not tell from the post card or from any visible evidence today that there were any decorative elements along the porch, such as dentil moulding. Did you have any other evidence that this might have existed? It is possible that it was not too ornate because it seems to be a bit of a combination of Queen Anne and Stick Style (which tended not not be very ornate)

Additionally, what are your plans for the porch decking once the carpet has been removed? I thought it might be helpful to know that it appears that the current carpeting was approved by the Historic Preservation Commission back in 2013.

Do you intend to propose to paint the brick facade? I'm wondering if the postcard's artist used some artistic license in showing it painted because there does not appear to be much evidence that paint has been removed but perhaps they were pretty meticulous about it.

Thanks for your help with this additional information.

Kathy

Additionally, the applicant has indicated in the submitted scope of work that a new gas line will replace the existing one and a "new gas light will be installed at the front, left corner of the sidewalk with an iron rail cage surrounding it". **The applicant has not yet provided the product and material specifications for this fixture.** There does not appear to be one shown in the postcards that were submitted.

The applicant will also remove exiting landscaping in front of the porch and will plant evergreens and perennials which will include "foxglove, liatris, hollyhock, columbine, bleeding heart, lavender, thyme, tree hydrangea and coneflower". Since these are not to be located in the public right of way, these plantings do not require review by the Historic Preservation Commission as detailed in Guideline 64.

The sections of the Preservation Guidelines that pertain to this application are Guideline 3: Restore Significant Historic Features (Chapter 5 Page 67); Guideline 5: Context Sensitive New Design (Chapter 5 Page 69); Guideline 13: General Painting Approaches (Chapter 5 Page 74); Guideline 14: Determining a Color Scheme (Chapter 5 Page 75); Guideline 20: Gutters and Downspouts (Chapter 5 Page 80)Guideline 33: Restore Historic Porch Features (Chapter 5 Page 89); Guideline 54: Building Lighting (Chapter 5 Page 107); Guideline 64: Landscaping (Softscape)(Chapter 5 Page 114)

For some additional guidance, I have added the National Park Service Preservation Brief #45: Preserving Historic Wood Porches.

## File Attachments for Item:

4. 66-72 Pershing Street – RCA21-000003 – Request for a Change Amendment to COA #870 to install new signage and to review "after the fact" window replacement on the second floor of the back of the structure (facing Merchants Alley), Christopher Hendershot (CG Enterprises LLC) applicant.



# EXISTING CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS REQUEST FOR CHANGE/AMENDMENT

Certificate of Appropriateness #:	COA2019-870
Property Owner:	CG ENTERPRISES LLC
Applicant:	Chris Hendershot
Original Approval Date:	05/08/2019
Project Address:	66 PERSHING ST
Property Number:	04034171
Change/Amendment Review Date:	

The request for a change/amendment to the original review includes the following scope of work: After the fact review of window replacements on the rear facade adjacent to Merchants Alley as well as the installation of new storefront signage.

The request was: Under Review

2

66 Pershing St. Scope of Work

3/5/21

It is our intention to replace (9) windows on the backside of the Perrin Building. The windows being replaced are on the second floor rear of the building.

The windows had damage deemed unrepairable including but not limited to: broken glass, rotted wood, chipped wood and paint. The windows were allowing water inside the building causing damage to our second floor office space walls and flooring. We had recently added a new tenant to that space of the building and the windows were no longer usable allowing not only water in during heavy rains but allowing cold air in easily and making heating the space much more difficult and expensive.

In an effort to replace them without changing and visuals from the exterior of the building, the wooden windows were replaced with replica vinyl windows and then painted to match using an exact color match using Lowe's paint services.



Photo: 66 pershing rear windows pict re Mar 26, 2021

# The windows that have been replaced were the nine located on the second floor



Photo: Additional before pic of mismatched and missing windows #3 Apr 06, 2021





Photo: Additional before pic of rotted/broken windows #2 Apr 06, 2021



Photo: Additional before pic of rotted/broken windows Apr 06, 2021



Photo: pro se eplacement indows pecs 1 of 2 replacement windows on rear of b ilding facing merchant s alle econd floor onl stom windows meas re 3 " 61" Apr 06, 2021



-- --

-0-

Photo: obb hop ignage indow Meas rements otal s ft of window 3 s ft total s ft of signage s ft 20 Mar 26, 2021



Photo: obb hop ew ignage Proposed 66 Pershing t Mar 26, 2021



Request for Change Amendment Application Presentation of Information By Kathy McKenney

RCA#21-000003 COA# 870 (May 2019) Business Name (If Applicable) Address: 66 Pershing Street Project Contact: Christopher Hendershot

**Project Summary:** The original Certificate of Appropriateness from 2019 included the approval of new signage for the other storefronts at this location, along with the removal of an awning. The current request for a Change Amendment is two-fold. The first component is related to the "after the fact" review of nine windows that were replaced on the second floor of the structure adjacent to Merchants Alley. Since this is a public right of way, the review of this work is within the purview of the Historic Preservation Commission.

Photographs have been included that demonstrate the condition of the windows prior to their removal. Each window had a wood sash and each was a one over one double hung window. Each window was replaced with a one over one double hung vinyl unit which was manufactured by Sprouse. Some screenshots from their online product page have been included. It does not appear that the size of any window opening has been altered.

The second component of the request is for a review of new signage for a new business at the #66 storefront. The signage consists of vinyl decals that will be placed inside the storefront window and in the upper glass panel of the storefront entrance door. A hanging sign that will be placed above the front entrance door, attached to a metal bracket, and installed into the front brick façade has also been requested. There has not been a request for lighting related to this sign. As with similar installations, the applicant should be encouraged to use the mortar joints, not the brick, to attach the sign.

The sections of the Preservation Guidelines that pertain to this application are Guideline 22: Retain Historic Windows (Chapter 5 Page 82); Guideline 23: Replacement Windows (Chapter 5, Page 82); Guideline 46: Sign Placement; Guideline 47: Sign Size (Chapter 5, Pages 102-103); Guideline 49: New Sign Materials (Chapter 5 Page 104)

## File Attachments for Item:

5. 66-72 Pershing Street – Part 2 application review for the purposes of obtaining a recommendation for real estate property tax credits as well as a property tax assessment freeze, CB Enterprises, LLC, applicants
Historic District Tax Incentive Program By Kathy McKenney 66 Pershing Street CG Enterprises LLC Contact: Zach Hattenfield Tax Account #: 04-084171

A Historic District Tax Incentive Application has been received from the owners of the property located at 66 Pershing Street. Based on research, factoring out all grant funds that have been allocated to the project, calculations (within the allowable two-year project time period), and materials received, I would like to make the following recommendation:

- City of Cumberland property tax credit recommended in the amount of \$18,783.63 (10% of total eligible project costs of \$187,836.32). The credit will be applied to real estate property taxes and is valid for a total of five years unless exhausted. Any credits remaining after that time will expire.
- Property tax assessment freeze is not applicable for this project since the ratio of the project investment versus the pre-improvement value of \$113,833.00 is 165% (using the 2019 State of Maryland's tax assessment for this property. Based on this percentage, the application qualifies for a seven (7) year assessment freeze.
- Since this property is located within the Special Taxing District, the special tax should also be frozen for seven years at the 2017 assessment, as well.

Improvement cost as percentage of market	Available tax exempt status of improvement
10 percent	1 year
20 percent	2 years
30 percent	2 years
40 percent	3 years
50 percent	3 years
60 percent	4 years
70 percent	4 years
80 percent	5 years
90 percent	6 years
100 percent	7 years
200 percent	8 years
300 percent	9 years
400 percent	9 years
500 percent	10 years

## City of Cumberland Historic Preservation Tax Program \_\_\_\_\_Part II - Completion Certification\_

TO: Cumberland Historic Proservation Commission 57 North Liberty Street Cumberland, MD 21502

į,

FOR O	FFICE USE ONLY
TOA .	#
Tax Account Date Approved	-
Part II Certified/Re See Attached for	commended by HPC Recommended Incentives)

-type or print in ink-PROPERTY: (if different from applicant information

APPLICANT;		PROPERTY: (	if different from applicant information)
Owner's Name:	CG Enterprises LLC	Name:	
Áddress:	(G-72 Pershing St. Cumberland, MD 21502	Address:	
Phone:	301-876-1022		

A. In Accordance with Maryland's Annotated Code Tax Property Article 9-204 and 9-204.1 and the City of Cumberland's Ordinance 3550 and 3551, I request a credit and/or froms on my City Property taxes for the following historic preservation, rehabilitation, or restoration work: (*Give a lorief description of the project*)

Total Cost of the Project: 5\_187,856 в. C. Contractor (1) Name (1) Multiple. See attached

Attached Transmittal of Receipts Form is Complete All Receipts are Numbered and Dated 2.

The minimum acconditure must be \$5000.00 See Attachment A for minimum claim requirement

D. Completion Date of Project

131/20 5

Before and After Photographs are Enclosed

I HEREBY DECLARE under penalties of perjury that all information submitted is, to the best of my jungerings, accurate and true,

en/Applicant Date

July 2010

City of Cumberland Historic Preservation Tax Program Transmittal of Receipts Form

- type or print in ink -

Please Sign and Number Each Receipt Individually. Use additional sheets, if necessary

itenized (ist-

Receipt #

See

Amount

astoched

Name of Contractor/Supplier

Work that Materials Were Used For

1 HEREBY CERTIFY that the above specified work and attachments were used for the rehabilitation, restoration, or preservation of a structure in the historic district at the address which appears on this application.

i HEREBY DECLARE under penalties of perjury that all information is, to the best of my knowledge, accurate and true.

**Owner/Applicant** 

3/26/21 Date

COLUMN 1	COLUMN 2	COLUMN 3	COLUMN 4	COLUMN 5	COLUMN 6	COLUMN 7	COLUMN
	Your page #(s) of invoice / receipt / check	Payse for item (name of contractor, company, etc.)	Part 2 Work Item #	Description of Expenditure	Expenditure Amount	Eligible Expense	înelîgible Expense
3/7/2019	1	Paradise Kitchens & Floors LLC	2, 3, 4	Plumbing	\$9,882.00	\$9,882.00	
5/7/2019	2	Paradise Kitchens & Floors LLC	2, 3	Kitchen cebinets	\$5,601.15	\$5,601.15	
5/7/2019	3	Paradise Kitchens & Floors LLC	2, 3	Kitchen cabinets	\$7,899.04	\$7,893.8	Ľ
5/24/201	4	Twicz Plumbing & Heating, Inc.	1-5	4" water line for sprinkler system	\$2,100.00	\$2,100 00	
8/12/201	5	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2, 3	Frame out bethroom shower; frame bethroom door o	\$744.53	\$744.52	9
8/13/2019	6	Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom meterials	\$936.7	\$936.73	1
8/13/2019	7	Lowe's	2, 9	Bathroom materials	\$11.8	\$11.39	
8/14/201	8	Lowe's	2, 3	Bathroom materials	\$672.1	\$672.19	
B/20/201	S	Ironwood Craftsmen, LLC	1-4	Frame bedroom closet, 2nd bath & shower, hellway d	\$3,150.0	\$3,150.00	
8/22/201		Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$904.18	\$904.1	
8/23/201		Naylor's Hardware	2, 3	Window restoration meterials	\$13.	\$13.7	
8/26/201	17	Navior's Hardware	2, 3	Window restoration materials	\$3.1	\$3.17	
8/26/201		Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for bethroom	\$41.#3	\$41.63	
8/26/201		Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	1-3	Fir out wells; frame openings; plumb shower valves in	\$9,079.5	\$3,078.5	
8/27/201		Lowe's	2,3	Drywali	\$115.21	\$116.2	
8/29/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Trim	\$299.5	\$299.51	
9/4/2011		Lowe's	2, 3	Trim	\$145.8	\$145.2	
9/4/201		Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2, 3	Rebuild window sashes, bedroom drywall, paint doon	\$1,850.01	\$1,850.00	2
9/5/201		Lowe's	1	Wells	\$42.6	\$42.86	
9/9/2019		Hajoca	2, 3	Kitchen & Bethroom materials	\$549.3	\$549.8	
9/10/201		Haloca	2, 3	Kitchen & Bethroom meterials	\$31.0	\$31.00	2
9/10/201		l Hajoca	2, 3	Kitchen & Bathroom materials	\$54.9	\$54.9	5
9/10/201		Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	1-4, 6-7	Meet with electrician, bedroom wells, kitchen work, l	\$2,400.0	\$2,400.00	×
9/11/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Bathroom materials	\$169.0	\$169 6	
9/11/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Bathroom materials	\$330.3	\$330.3	1
9/11/2019		5 Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom materiels	\$25.7	\$25.7	2
9/12/201		/ Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$146.2	6 \$146.21	s
9/13/201		8 Hajoca	2, 3	Bethroom meterials	\$210.5	\$210.8	/
9/16/201		Hajoca	2, 3	Bathroom materials	\$46.#i	0 <b>\$46.</b> 6k	2
9/17/201		Lowe's	1, 6	Wells	\$480.6	\$480.1	-
9/18/201		L Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for kitchens	\$243.5	\$243.5	7
9/18/2019		2 Sherwin Williams	2, 5	Paint for kitchens	\$72.1	\$72.1	2

9/18/201=	33	True Value	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$25.7	\$25.74
9/18/2013	34	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4, 6-7	Drywell; concrete boards in bethrooms; insulate walls	\$2,725.00	\$2,725.00
9/19/2019	35	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4, 6-7	Rough in drain & supply plumbing	\$1,890.00	\$1,890.00
9/20/2019	36	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materiels	\$141.81	\$141 HI
9/24/201	37	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4, 6-7	Drywall; windows; subfloor for kitchen tile; concrete a	\$3,050.00	\$3,050.00
9/25/2019	38	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materiala	\$121.3	\$121.81
9/25/2019	39	Sherwin Williams	2, 9	Paint for kitchens	\$498,25	\$498.05
9/25/2019	40	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for kitchens	\$56.05	\$56.05
9/26/2019	41	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen meteriels	\$2,023.25	\$2,023-25
9/30/2019	42	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4, 6-7	Dryweil; peint bedrooms; windows; doors;	\$3,360.00	\$3,360.00
10/7/2019	43	Hajoca	2, 3	Water heaters	\$804.88	5804.88
10/2/201	44	Sherwin Williams	2, 5	Paint for kitchens	\$192.64	\$192,64
10/2/2019	45	Solid Wood Floors & Moulding	2, 9	Flooring for kitchen	\$965,80	\$985.80
10/3/201	46	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$225.94	\$225.94
10/4/201	47	Lows's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$138.72	\$138.7
10/7/201	48	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materiels	\$63.54	\$63.58
10/8/201	49	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen meteriels	\$238.16	\$238.1=
10/8/2019	50	Sherwin Williams	2, 5	Paint for kitchens	\$137.7	\$137.7
10/8/2019	51	Ironwood Creftsman, LLC	2-4	Oryweil; peint; windows; trim; remove wallpaper, pair	\$8,510.00	\$3,510.00
10/9/2019	52	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for kitchens	\$65.54	\$65.64
10/11/2019	53	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$268.13	\$268.13
10/15/2019	54	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4	Drywell; peint; doors; herdwood floor in kitchen; repa	\$4,517.50	\$4,517.50
10/16/2019	55	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$151.21	\$151.2
10/17/2019	51	Lowe's	1-3	Fire rated doors	\$3,329.2	\$3,329.27
10/21/201	57	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for kitchens	\$174.8	\$174.8
10/21/201	58	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for kitchens	\$328.73	\$328.7
10/21/201	59	Ironwood Craftemen, LLC	2-4	Dryweil; trim; peint kitchen, bethroom, closet, powde-	\$3,550.0	\$3,550.00
10/22/2019	60	Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom meterials	\$1,603.07	\$1,503.07
10/22/2019	61	Solid Wood Floors & Moulding	2, 3	Trim	\$523.15	\$523.15
10/23/2019	62	Lowe's	2, 3	Bathroom materials	\$371.37	\$371.37
10/24/2019	65	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen meterials	\$57.50	\$57.50
10/25/201	64	Lowe's	2, 3	REFUND: Kitchen materials	-\$234.20	-\$234.
10/25/2019	65	Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$518.5	\$518.5
10/25/2019	60	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$16,43	\$16.43
10/29/2019	67	Lowe's	2, 3	Sethroom meterials	\$210.94	\$210.94
10/29/201	61	Lowe's	1-3	Doors	\$291.57	\$291.5

10/29/201	69	Lowe's	2, 3	REFUND: Bethroom materials	-\$903.1.7	-\$903.12	
10/30/2019	70	Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom meterials	\$257.69	\$257.65	
10/30/201	71	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint for closets	\$33.6	\$33.6	
10/30/201	72	Ironwood Crafteman, LLC	2-4	Shower pans; kerdi liner; attach drain lines; drywall; 🖂	\$2,875.00	\$2,875.00	
10/31/201	73	Lowe's	2, 3	Peint	\$86.00	\$86.80	_
11/4/2019	74	Lowe's	2, 3	Paint	-\$136.55	-\$136.55	
11/4/2019	75	Lowe's	2, 3	Paint	\$47.60	\$47.60	
11/5/2019	76	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint	\$100.87	\$100.87	
11/5/2019	77	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4	Lay the in powder room; shower drains; install interior	\$2,975.00	\$2,975.00	
11/7/2019	78	Sherwin Williams	2-4	Paint	\$64.21	\$64.28	
11/8/2019	79	Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom meteriels	\$260.33	\$260.53	
11/11/2019	80	Solid Wood Floors & Moulding	2, 3, 6	Window restoration materials	\$1,378.00	\$1,378.00	
11/11/201	81	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4	Install kitchen e; frame kitchen well; patch wells; wind	\$9,391.5	\$9,391.57	
11/12/201		Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2-4	Reimbursement to ironwood Craftsman for materials	\$467.61	\$467.44	
11/13/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Bathroom meterials	\$862.64	\$862.64	
11/14/2019		Lowe's	2,3	Kitchen materials	\$576.33	\$576.3	
11/18/201	85	Home Depot	2, 3	Kitchen appliances	\$2,132.00		\$2,132
11/18/201	86	Homa Depot	2, 3	Kitchen appliances	\$2,192.00		\$2,132
11/18/2019		Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$1,179.99	\$1,179.99	
11/18/2019	88	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint	\$93.35	\$93.95	
11/19/2019	89	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$56.14	\$56.14	
11/19/201	90	Ironwood Creftsmen, LLC	2, 3	Bethroom tile; repair & psint callings & wells; window	\$6,060.00	\$6,060.00	
11/20/2013		Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$169.56	\$169.54	
11/21/2013		Lowe's	2, 3	Water heaters; paint for closets	\$701.	\$701.78	
11/21/201		Lowe's	2, 3	REFUND: Bethroom materials	-\$225.15	-\$225.15	
11/21/201	94	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Peint	\$82,00	\$82,00	
11/22/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$185.69	\$185.65	
11/25/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen meterials	\$518.6	\$518.6	
11/25/2019	97	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen meterials	\$16.95	\$16.93	
11/25/201		Lowe's	2, 9	Shower Door	\$736,69	\$736.55	
11/26/201		Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	2.3	Bethroom venities; windows; trim; countertops; sink;	\$6,772.50	\$6,772.50	
11/29/201		Lowe's	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$756.04	\$755.04	
11/29/2019		Navior's Hardware	2, 3	Bathroom materials	\$13.1	\$13.12	
12/3/2015		American Rent-All	2,3	Materials for refinishing floor	\$150.00	\$150.00	
12/3/201		Bond Home Center	2, 3	Molding	\$186.0	\$186.0	
12/3/201		Lowe's	1-4, 6	Paint	\$15.07	\$16.0	

12/3/201	105	Potomec Valley Industrial Supply	2, 3	Bethroom materials	\$51 34	\$51.54	
12/3/2010		Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	1-4, 6	Crown molding; kitchen Island; windows; framing, inst	\$4,674.44	\$4,674.44	
12/4/2015	107	Lowe's	1-4, 6	REFUND: meteriale	-\$91.75	-\$91.75	
12/4/201	108	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen meterials	\$240.05	\$240.05	
12/4/2019	109	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint	\$312.94	\$312.94	
12/4/201	110	Sherwin Williams	2, 3	Paint	\$309.67	\$309.67	
12/4/2013	111	Solid Wood Floors & Moulding	2, 5	Kitchen meterials	\$613.36	\$613.36	_
12/4/2015	112	Surplus City	2, 5	Bathroom materials	\$103.54	\$103.34	
12/5/201	113	American Rent-All	1-4	Meterials for refinishing floor	\$117.69	\$117.#9	
12/5/201	114	Naylor's Hardware	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$11.55	\$11.55	
12/9/201	115	Noel's Fire Protection	1-7	Sprinkler System	\$14,632.61	\$14,632.61	
12/10/2019	116	Lowe's	2, 3	Kitchen materials	\$26.97	\$26.97	
12/11/201	117	American Rent-All	1-4	Materials for refinishing floor	\$256.9	\$256.95	
12/11/2019	118	Lowe's	2, 3	Materiala	\$226.99	\$226.99	
12/11/2019	119	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	1-4, 6	Floors, bethroom, fire doors,	\$7,182.08	\$7,182.05	
12/12/2019	120	Lowe's	1-4, 6	REFUND; materials	-\$69.70	-\$69.70	_
12/12/2019	121	Lowe's	2, 3	Light focures -	\$65.81		\$65.8
12/12/2019	122	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	1-4, 6	Fire doors, repair plaster walls, paint concrete walls, be	\$24,000.00	\$24,000.00	
12/13/2019	123	Lowe's	2, 3	Lighting	\$14.82		\$14.0
12/16/2019	124	Lowe's	2, 3	Materiala & Shelving	\$291.55	\$291.64	
12/16/2019	125	Ironwood Crefternen, LLC	1-4, 6	Floors, molding, paint, bethrooms, windows	\$6,697.02	\$6,697 02	
1/30/2020	126	AtEase Security	1-7	Fire Suppression System	\$3,826.00	\$3,836.00	
2/1/2020	127	ABC Electric	7	Electrical work	\$930.00	\$930.00	_
2/7/2020	328	AtEase Security	1-7	Fire Suppression System	\$522.25	\$522.15	
2/11/2020	129	Ironwood Craftsman, LLC	1	Stalzwell	\$552 92	\$552.92	
2/14/2020	130	ABC Electric	7	Electrical work	\$910.00	\$910.00	
2/27/2020	131	ABC Electric	7	Electrical work	\$1,810.00	\$1,310.00	
4/14/2020	192	Metz Electric	7	Electrical work	\$5,160.00	\$5,160.00	-
10/2/2019	133	Amazon	2, 3, 5	Light fotures, a/c filters	\$596.14		\$596.1
12/9/2019	134	American Rent-All	1-4, 6	Materials for refinishing floor	\$150.00	\$150.00	
5/31/201	135	Chaney Architects Inc	1-7	Architectural Analysis & Design	\$1,450.00	\$1,450.00	
5/4/2017	136	Chaney Architects Inc	1-7	Architectural Analysis & Design	\$7,530.00	\$7,530.00	_
6/19/2018	197	Squires Electric & Mechanical, Inc.	5	HVAC systems	\$17,250.00	\$17,250.00	
6/25/2018	138	Metz Electric	7	Electrical work	\$14,500.00	\$14,500.00	
6/2/201	139	Noel's Fire Protection	1-7	Sprinkler System	\$95,000.00	\$35,000.00	_
7/26/2019	140	Lowe's	1-4, 6	Meteriels	\$903 50	\$903.50	

	SUBTOTAL of ineligible funding sources to subtract: Part 3 Total Qualified Rehabilitation Expenditures as submitted:		\$75,730.00 \$187,836.32	
	State Government Funding (list type, i.e. grants, loans, credits) (enter value):			
	Local Government Funding (list type, i.e. grants, icans) (enter value):	\$75,730.00		
UBTRACT Non-Personal (ineligible) Funding Sources:	insurance Reimbursement Funds (enter value):			
	SUBTOTAL of eligible costs:		\$263,566.	
	SUBTOTALS (will suto-calculate):	\$268,507.59		54,940

S.

## **Before Photos**

































4/2/2021
























Copy of IMG\_6659.JPG





























Copy of IMG\_9170.HEIC







## **After Photos**



















IMG\_1919.HEIC











IMG\_1929.HEIC



IMG\_1930.HEIC


























4/2/2021







4/2/2021











